
Town of Lyman 
Select Board Regular Meeting Agenda 

Monday January 21st, 2025 – Lyman Town Hall 
Welcome to the January 21st, 2025 Regular Meeting of The Lyman Select Board. 

This meeting is a public proceeding and is being recorded. 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 
1 M.R.S.A §405 (C) Discussion regarding the condition, or acquisition of real property 
1 M.R.S.A §405 (A) Discussion regarding personnel matters 

ITEM #1 SPECIAL OFFERS/ PRESENTATIONS 
a. RFP – Property Equalization Project – Open Bids

ITEM #2 HEARING OF DELEGATIONS / PUBLIC INPUT 
a. Public Input – Public in attendance will have up to 5 minutes to address the Board.

Please use the podium to address the board and please be respectful of others
b. Mail      •   York County Sheriff Insider Bulletin

ITEM #3 UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
a. Franchise Agreement, Updates if any
b. YMCA – Discussion regarding 2025 contract
c. Joe Wagner/Karen Kane – Updates on AARP Age Friendly Survey

ITEM #4 DEPARTMENT AND COMMITTEE REPORTS 
a. Fire Chief – All Hands
b. IT Committee – Proposal for Internet and Cameras at Bunganut Park
c. Bunganut Committee – Status update
d. Treasurer - Expense Report

ITEM #5 NEW BUSINESS 
a. Review/ Approve - Committee Handbook

ITEM #6 MINUTES 
a. Review / Approve meeting minutes 1/6/2025

ITEM #7 SIGN WARRANTS 
a. Payroll Warrant #32 in the amount of $29,136.88
b. Accounts Payable Warrant #31 (FY2025) in the amount of $166,432.47

ADJOURN 



 Message from: 

         Sheriff William L. King Jr. 

The sheriff’s office experienced a lot of change this 
quarter.  Our Patrol Commander, Kathryn Mone was elected 
sheriff in neighboring Strafford County, New Hampshire 
which provided an opportunity for Civil Deputy Craig Sanford 
to return to patrol work, as the Patrol Commander!  

Another leadership change occurred in the jail when Lt. Lori 
Marks was promoted to Jail Administrator.  Marks is an 18-
year veteran of the sheriff’s office and was the clear choice 
after a national search.  

We also said goodbye to our long-term mechanic, Willie 
Elliott, who has kept our vehicles running smoothly for 21 
years!  Willie traded in his wrenches for a new set of golf 
clubs – he is an avid golfer and I am told is very good! 

Jail Administrator Marks was instrumental in an educational 
program the sheriff’s office conducted with Massabesic 
Adult Education.  The course was called, “Behind the Walls” 
and was an in depth look at the inner workings of the York 
County Jail.  Twenty-one people signed up for the one-day 
class and had to undergo a background check to quality for 
the class.  

I was invited by former Chief Deputy Tom Baran, an 
executive with AAA New England to speak about traffic 
safety and how we tackle our traffic challenges in York 
County at AAA New England’s annual conference for New 

Bulletin created by Stacy Thistlewood 

Hampshire officials. 

The county also held its “Spirit of America” awards ceremony 
honoring our everyday heroes.  Following that ceremony, I 
was asked to participate in a panel interview on Public Radio 
to discuss the importance of recognizing those everyday 
heroes around us. 

As you will see in this newsletter, our deputies have made 
some significant arrests, from a interrupting at least two 
large scale drug distribution networks, to arresting a suspect 
for a large scale theft to dismantling a scam that pilfered 
$50,000 from an Alfred man – we arrested three out of state 
individuals in the theft, two of those individuals are illegal 
aliens.  

I was able to discuss the great work on a television show, 
“ARC Maine,” hosted by CBS 13/FOX 23.  We discussed 
scams and York County’s recent success at arrested 
violators.  

Commissioners Donna Ring and Richard Dutremble traveled 
to Augusta for a presentation by the Maine State Police and 
the Public Safety Commissioner.  The topic was rural patrol 
and the capabilities of the Maine State Police to provide 
specialized services.    

Lastly, Administrative Assistant Kelly Burnham spearheaded 
the effort to provide a holiday celebration for all employees 
The food was delicious and it was nice to see the fellowship 
amongst employees! 

ITEM #2: (b.) Mail



Major 
Craig Sanford 

Sheriff taps longtime law 
enforcement officer for Major 

of Operations role 

Longtime law enforcement 
officer Craig Sanford has been 
named Major of Operations at 
York County Sheriff’s Office and 

began his new duties Jan. 6. 

Sanford’s chief responsibility in the role will be patrol 
operations, said York County Sheriff William L. King, but the 
job involves much more – a job description outlines an array of 
duties, from evaluating employees to establishing departmental 
policies, serving as a community liaison, assisting in budget 

preparation, and so on. 

Sanford, of Shapleigh, began his law enforcement career as a 
Military Police officer with the U.S. Army. Following the 
conclusion of his four year hitch, he joined the Sanford Police 
Department and worked his way through the ranks to become 
deputy police chief, a role he served in for two years, prior to 
departing after more than 22 years with the agency. Sanford 
next became Chief of Police in Kennebunkport, a job he held 

for 13 years until he retired in May 2024. 

He likes to be busy.  “It’s how I’m wired,” Sanford said. 

That was evident in Kennebunkport, where Sanford frequently 
conducted traffic stops and was known to change a tire when 

it was needed. 

Retirement brought new opportunities for the retired cop who 
doesn’t like to be idle – Sanford became a reserve civil deputy 
with the sheriff’s office and soon thereafter, a full-time civil 
deputy.  The Major of Operations opportunity arose when the 
current Major in the position, Katherine Mone, ran for and was 
elected Sheriff of Strafford County, New Hampshire in the 
November election. She took up her duties there in early 

January. 

York County Commissioners unanimously approved 
Sanford’s appointment to the Major of Operations position 
Dec. 18. Raised in Waterboro, Sanford has always lived in 
York County with the exception of his military service, and as 
a longtime municipal law enforcement officer, is familiar with 

the sheriff’s office. 

“I think I have the ability to add to the whole atmosphere 

here,” he said.  King, the sheriff, agrees. 

“Craig Sanford brings a wealth of experience to the York 
County Sheriff’s Office,” said King. “He is familiar with the 
challenges of rural patrol and is a welcome addition to our 

commend staff.” 

Article and Photo courtesy of Tammy Wells 

Critter Corner 
Injured Owl 

On December 3rd around 8PM, 
deputies received a call from a 
citizen reporting that an owl 
appeared injured on the side of 
the roadway.  Deputies Levi 
Johnson and Cody Frazier 
responded and met with the 
concerned community member, 
Carl Landry. 
Deputy Johnson was able to use his police jacket to 
corral the owl and made arrangements to deliver it to 
Game Warden Steven Thistlewood’s house.  Warden 
Thistlewood and his wife, Stacy (an administrative 
employee at the Sheriff’s Office) kept the owl overnight 
and the following day, Warden Thistlewood delivered the 
owl to a local Wildlife Conflict Agent, and they would 
bring the injured owl to Gray Headquarters. Once there 
the owl was accessed and transported to Avian Haven 

facility in Freedom Maine.  

On November 15th at approx. 
330pm, Deputy Jonathan 
Marshall of the York County 
Sheriff's Office responded to 
the Shapleigh Corner Rd. in 
Shapleigh for an animal 
complaint. When Deputy 
Marshall arrived on scene, he 
located an 8-foot Boa 
constrictor. Deputy Marshall 
secured the snake in his 

vehicle to get it out of the cold temperatures which can 
be deadly to this cold-blooded animal. The Maine 

Warden Service was contacted to retrieve the snake.   

Snake - Boa Constrictor 



Trafficking Drugs 

in Waterboro 

On December 22, 2024, at 
approximately 715 pm., York 
County Sheriff's Deputies responded to a residence on 
Preston Way in Waterboro to try to locate an Anthony 
Foglio (39 yrs. old from Waterboro) for outstanding 
felony Theft warrants.  

During the subsequent investigation, a male fled from 
the home and was arrested a short distance away. He 
initially provided a false name but was identified as 
Wilquel Andres Sanchez Lara (23 years old from 
Lawrence, Massachusetts). While trying to evade 
deputies it was believed he discarded contraband. 
Deputy Cody Frazier and K-9 Rebel responded and 
located a baggy containing 52.6 grams of crack cocaine 
thrown by Lara.  

Lara was arrested for Trafficking in a Schedule W Drug. 
Foglio was arrested on the warrants and for Violation of 
Condition of Release. Both were transported to the York 
County Jail. Lara's bail was set at $25,000 cash while 
Foglio was not allowed bail until he went to court. 

A subsequent search warrant was conducted at the 
home and a small amount of drugs was located and 
seized. More charges are expected. The Maine Drug 
Enforcement Agency and the Maine State Police 
assisted with the investigation. 

Anthony Foglio Wilquel Andres Sanchez Lara 

Alfred Parade 
In December, Deputy 

M a t t h e w  C u m m e r 

participated in the Alfred 

Festival Parade and 

decorated his cruiser as 

part of the event.   

PAYPAL SCAM 
On December 14, 2024, an 82 year old Alfred resident, was 
the victim of a Paypal scam in which individuals were able 
to gain access to his banking information. During 
subsequent phone calls with the suspect, he agreed to 
provide them $50,000 cash for what the suspects claimed 
was owed to them from a banking error. Later that day a 
Chinese male arrived at his house and the victim turned 
over $50,000 to him. 

On December 17th, the suspects called the victim again 
and claimed he owed them another $50,000. Surveillance 
was set up at the home by York County Sheriff’s deputies 
and three Chinese males were taken into custody when 
they arrived to pick up the money. One of the males 
arrested was identified as the same male that had stolen 
the $50,000 on 12-14-24. 

The males have tentatively been 
identified as MENG CHEN (50), 
WEIJIE YAN (21), and WEN CHEN 
(23). It is believed that YAN and CHEN 
failed to show up at a deportation 
hearing last year. All three have 
criminal histories. 

It is believed they have victimized 
numerous other individuals, possibly in 
the southern Maine area. Several 
phones have been seized from the 
individuals. 

There were calling from several 
numbers: (816) 670-8469, (770-398-
3375), (213) 433-0365. 

Special Delivery 

In November, Brianna and Morgan from Atlantic Federal 
Credit Union delivered 
pies to Chief Deputy 
Forbes and Major Mone 
to be shared with staff 
during Thanksgiving 
week.  The pies came 
from Fogarty's in South 
Berwick and were deli-
cious. Thank you Atlantic 
Federal Credit Union.  



Maine Drug Enforcement Agency 

Task Force Arrests 
For several months, Task Force Officer Jeffrey Regan from the York 
County Sheriff's Office has been investigating a known drug trafficking 
organization operating in York County.  During the investigation, 
multiple controlled purchases of fentanyl and cocaine base were made.  As a result of the investigation, TFO Regan 
was able to secure arrest warrants for four subjects and search warrants for three locations.   

Tuesday 11-19-2024 
With the assistance of the US Marshalls Service Violent Offender Task Force, a search warrant was served at 754 
Pool St in Biddeford.  Small quantities of drugs, evidence of drug trafficking and suspected drug 
proceeds were seized.  Arrested were : 

Derrel Brunson (32), of New York New York, 1 count of Aggravated Trafficking of Fentanyl – 
Class A.  Bail is $30,000.  Additional charges of Aggravated Trafficking of Fentanyl Class A x 2, 
and Unlawful Trafficking of cocaine base, Class B are forthcoming.  (Brunson is believed to be 
a major supplier to the area) 

Donald Newton (54), of Biddeford, 1 count of Conspiracy to Traffick in Fentanyl, Class C bail 
was set at $4,000. 

Wednesday 11-20-2024 
With the assistance of the Biddeford Police Department, a search warrant was served at 14 
Center St in Biddeford.  Evidence of drug trafficking and small amounts of drugs were 
located.  This location is within one block of St. James School.  Arrested was : 

Matthew Plante  (39), 2 counts of Aggravated Trafficking of Schedule W Drug – Cocaine 
Base.  Bail was set at $10,000. 

Thursday 11-21-2024 
With the assistance of the United States DEA tac team, YSO, and the Town of Lyman, a search 
warrant was served at 29 Mountain View Lane in Lyman.  Quantities of drugs and a firearm 
were seized at the residence.  The Lyman ACO took possession of seven dogs in the 
residence.  Lyman Code Enforcement is working towards condemning the residence.  Arrested 
were: 

Christopher Powers-Burns  (41), 2 counts of Unlawful Trafficking in Fentanyl as well as 
multiple additional warrants.  Additional felony drug charges are forthcoming as a result of the 
search.  No bail was allowed. 

Paul Kastberg (38), multiple warrants, no bail allowed. 

Additional intel was also gained which will lead to several more drug trafficking 
suspects.  Additional subjects are anticipated to be charged in connection to the above cases 
as well.  The communities affected by this drug organization are Biddeford, Saco, Old 
Orchard Beach, Sanford, Lyman, Waterboro, Buxton, Hollis, Dayton, Limerick and 
Lebanon. 



Warrant  

For THEFT 

On November 22, 2024, the 
York County Sheriff's 

Office received a report from a Waterboro resident 
of a theft of $176,000 in cash from his home. Tiffany 
Dean (38 yrs. from Sanford) was identified as a 
suspect and a warrant was issued for her arrest. 
Tiffany had fled the area and attempts were made to 
locate her in Penobscot County with the assistance 
of the Penobscot County Sheriff's Office and State 
Police. 

On December 11, 2024, Tiffany turned herself in at 
the York County Jail and is being held on $20,000 
cash bail. Some of the cash believed to have been 
stolen has been seized by deputies. 

During the investigation and after conducting 
search warrants the York County Sheriff’s Office 
recovered $22,000 in cash from the suspects vehicle 
and the assisting agency Penobscot County 
Sheriff’s Office recovered $138,800 from a home in 
Greenbush. 

Southern Maine 
Special Response Team 
The York County Sheriff’s Office has many 
opportunities for Deputies to serve in a specialized role 
in addition to their primary duties. Among these 
specialized roles is the Southern Maine Special 

Response Team, or “S.M.S.R.T.”. 

S.M.S.R.T is a regional
emergency service comprised
of several agencies within York
County who dedicate qualified
law enforcement officers to
serve on the team in several
specialized roles. Individuals on

the team can serve as an operator, sniper, energetic 
breacher, K9 handler, and drone pilot given they have 
completed the appropriate schooling. All individuals on 
the team are required to complete a basic and 
advanced level “S.W.A.T.” school, which upon 
completion qualify 
individuals to partake in 
team trainings and 

deployments. 

In addition to serving 
search warrants and arrest 
warrants for dangerous 
individuals, S.M.S.R.T. can 
deploy at a moment’s 
notice for crisis or 
emergent events such as: 
Hostage Negotiations, 
Barricaded Individuals, Active Shooter Events, Riots or 

Unlawful Assembly’s, and Disaster Relief. 

The York County Sheriff’s Office currently has three 
individuals serving as 
members on the team. They 
are Deputy Alex Markellos, 
Detective Steven Broy, and 
Detective Sergeant Kyle 
Kassa. Most recently, all three 
attended Guild Solutions 
Group “Situational Movement 
Solutions”, a four day course 
which was hosted by the York 

County Sheriff’s Office. 

Mechanic 

Willie Retired 
In November we said goodbye 
to our fleet mechanic, Willie 
Elliott, after 21 years of 
dedicated service.  Willie 
started as a corrections officer 
and when an opening occurred 
in the garage, he applied and 
was selected!  Willie's family, as 
well as County Commissioner 
Donna Ring and former Sheriff 
Maurice Ouellette were on hand to 
wish him well in retirement. 

Willie is 
trading in his 

wrenches  
for golf 
clubs!  



Massabesic  
Student Event 
I n  December ,  Schoo l 
Resource Deputy Matthew 
Cummer, and Deputy Robert 
Nejad and Deputy Jonathan 
Marshall took part in a 
fundraiser event for the 
Massabesic Girls Basketball 
Team.  S tuden ts  were 

"arrested" and had 
to call family and 
friends to bail 
them out. It was a 
fun event for the 
students and the 

deputies.   

Toys for Tots 
In December, Deputy Robert Nejad assisted the 
Biddeford Police and Fire Department at Walmart as 
part of the Toys for Tots program. Deputy Nejad helped 
with taking in donated toys for families in the York 
County area. These toys were then distributed to 
families in need so that their children could experience 

a magical holiday season.  

Veterans Parade 
On November 11th, Chief Deputy Jeremy Forbes of the 
York County Sheriff's Office had the great honor to 
escort the Grand Marshall of the Biddeford-Saco 
Veteran's Day Parade. Lionel Lamontagne is a Navy 
Veteran who served two tours in Vietnam.  Chief Deputy 
Forbes enjoyed the 
conversation with Lionel 
and his granddaughter, 
Gracie, during the parade 
and we thank him for his 
service to our country.  

International Chiefs of 

Police Conference 
In October, Chief Deputy Forbes, Major Mone, and 
Det. Sgt. Kassa attended the International Chiefs of 
Police Conference in Boston.  Police Leaders from 
around the world attended the conference.  Classes 
focused on Community Policing Concepts, Mental 
Health,  Transformational Leadership ideas, Crime 
Fighting strategies, Recruitment and Retention, and a 
number of other topics geared toward improving law 
enforcement agencies' service to communities and 

their own officers.   

Progress on  

Construction Site 

On November 19th, Chief Deputy 
Forbes, Facilities Manager Richard 
Derochemont, and Development 

Director Rachel 
Stansfield, met 
with Superintendent Steve Lapoint, to 
check on the construction of the new 
First Responder Training Center and 
Recovery Center at 1 Layman Way in 
Alfred.   



Ground Breaking Ceremony 

York County  

First Responder Training Center  

and Substance Use Recovery Center 

On November 21, 2024, Sheriff King and Chief Deputy Forbes spoke 
at the groundbreaking ceremony for the First Responder training 
facility being built at Layman Way in Alfred. Chief Deputy Forbes is a 
member of the training center committee that has been involved in 
submitting ideas and programs that first responders will have access to 
at this facility. The Sheriff's Department is extremely thankful to the 
county manager, Greg Zinser, and the county commissioners for 
making this state-of-the-art training facility a reality. It is going to offer 
relevant and current training to all first responders in York County, 
which will make our communities that much safer.  

We will keep you updated on the progress of the 
constriction over the next year or two.  



AAA New England 
Annual Conference 

Sheriff King was invited by former 
Chief Deputy Tom Baran, currently an executive with 
AAA New England to speak about traffic safety and 
how we tackle our traffic challenges in York County at 
AAA New England’s annual conference for New 

Hampshire officials.  

The Sheriff explained how the 
Sheriff’s Office sends letters to 
the registered owners of 
vehicles that have been 
reported by other motorists to 
being operated erratically.  He 
also explained that we thank 
those who let us know about 

violators! 

Holiday Staff Celebration 

Gingerbread House 

Contest 2024 

The winners of the gingerbread 

house contest this year are the 

ladies from the Sheriff’s Office, 

Mindy Badger, Stacy Thistle-

wood, Julie Edmonson and 

Emily Enger.  Great job ladies, 

the bar is set high for next year. 



A
ge

-F
ri

en
dl

y 
L

ym
an

 –
C

om
m

un
it

y 
Su

rv
ey

, 2
02

4

Pr
es

en
te

d 
by

: 
Jo

se
ph

 W
ag

ne
r a

nd
 K

ar
en

 K
an

e

Ja
nu

ar
y

21
, 2

02
5

Se
le

ct
 B

oa
rd

 M
ee

tin
g

1

ITEM #3: (c.) AARP Age Friendly Survey



8 
E

le
m

en
ts

 o
f 

L
if

el
o

n
g

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s
20

24
 L

ym
an

 C
om

m
un

ity
 S

ur
ve

y

2



L
ym

an
 S

ur
ve

y 
D

at
a

•
To

ta
l s

ur
ve

ys
 re

tu
rn

ed
: 2

73
•

Su
rv

ey
 w

as
 d

is
tr

ib
ut

ed
:

•
N

ov
em

be
r p

ol
lin

g 
st

at
io

n
•

Co
m

m
un

ity
 L

ib
ra

ry
•

Ly
m

an
 To

w
n 

H
al

l &
 W

eb
si

te
•

Em
ai

l b
la

st
•

Ly
m

an
 F

ac
eb

oo
k 

Pa
ge

s
•

Ca
nd

le
w

oo
d 

Co
m

m
un

ity

•
Su

rv
ey

 o
pe

n 
N

ov
em

be
r –

D
ec

em
be

r 2
02

4

Ly
m

an
 To

w
n 

H
al

l20
24

 L
ym

an
 C

om
m

un
ity

 S
ur

ve
y

3



A
re

 y
o

u
 a

 y
ea

r-
ro

u
n

d
 r

es
id

en
t 

o
f 

L
ym

an
? 

(n
=

27
1)

89
%

Ye
s

11
%

N
o

20
24

 L
ym

an
 C

om
m

un
ity

 S
ur

ve
y

4



A
g

e 
o

f 
R

es
p

o
n

d
en

ts
 (

n
=

26
3)

•
74

%
of

 re
sp

on
de

nt
s

ar
e 

50
+

20
24

 L
ym

an
 C

om
m

un
ity

 S
ur

ve
y

26
%

18
%

30
%

21
%

5%

0%5%10
%

15
%

20
%

25
%

30
%

35
%

U
nd

er
 5

0
50

-5
9

60
-6

9
70

-7
9

80
+

5



H
o

w
 l

o
n

g
 h

av
e 

yo
u

 l
iv

ed
 i

n
 L

ym
an

? 
(n

=
27

3)

20
24

 L
ym

an
 C

om
m

un
ity

 S
ur

ve
y

18
%

26
%

23
%

18
%

15
%

0%5%10
%

15
%

20
%

25
%

30
%

56
%

of
 re

sp
on

de
nt

s h
av

e 
liv

ed
 in

 Ly
m

an
 fo

r 
15

+ 
ye

ar
s

6



H
o

w
 w

o
u

ld
 y

o
u

 r
at

e 
L

ym
an

 a
s 

a 
p

la
ce

 f
o

r 
p

eo
p

le
 t

o
 l

iv
e 

as
 t

h
ey

 e
n

te
r 

th
ei

r 
se

n
io

r 
ye

ar
s?

 (
n

=
26

6)

20
24

 L
ym

an
 C

om
m

un
ity

 S
ur

ve
y

82
%

of
 re

sp
on

de
nt

s t
ol

d 
us

 
th

at
 Ly

m
an

 is
 a

 G
O

O
D

 T
O

 
EX

CE
LL

EN
T 

pl
ac

e 
to

 a
ge

.
13

%

30
%

39
%

14
%

3%

0%
10

%
20

%
30

%
40

%
50

%

Ex
ce

lle
nt

Ve
ry

 G
oo

d

G
oo

d

Fa
ir

Po
or

7



T
h

in
k

in
g

 a
b

o
u

t 
yo

u
r 

fu
tu

re
 y

ea
rs

, 
ar

e 
yo

u
 l

ik
el

y 
to

 m
o

ve
 t

o
 a

 
d

if
fe

re
n

t 
co

m
m

u
n

it
y,

 m
o

ve
 t

o
 a

 d
if

fe
re

n
t 

re
si

d
en

ce
 i

n
 L

ym
an

, 
o

r 
st

ay
 i

n
 y

o
u

r 
cu

rr
en

t 
re

si
d

en
ce

 a
n

d
 n

ev
er

 m
o

ve
? 

(n
=

25
6)

20
24

 L
ym

an
 C

om
m

un
ity

 S
ur

ve
y

80
%

 
of

 re
sp

on
de

nt
s t

ol
d 

us
 

th
at

 th
ey

 p
re

fe
r t

o 
st

ay
 in

 
Ly

m
an

20
%

9%

71
%

0%
20

%
40

%
60

%
80

%

M
ov

e 
to

 a
 d

iff
er

en
t c

om
m

un
ity

M
ov

e 
to

 a
 d

iff
er

en
t r

es
id

en
ce

 w
ith

in
Ly

m
an

St
ay

 in
 y

ou
r c

ur
re

nt
 re

si
de

nc
e 

an
d

ne
ve

r m
ov

e

8



If
 y

o
u

 w
er

e 
to

 c
o

n
si

d
er

 m
o

vi
n

g
 o

u
t 

o
f 

yo
u

r 
cu

rr
en

t 
re

si
d

en
ce

, 
h

o
w

 m
u

ch
 o

f 
a 

fa
ct

o
r 

w
o

u
ld

 t
h

e 
fo

ll
o

w
in

g
 b

e 
in

 
yo

u
r 

d
ec

is
io

n
 t

o
 m

o
ve

? 

T
o

p
 5

 M
aj

o
r 

F
ac

to
rs

20
24

 L
ym

an
 C

om
m

un
ity

 S
ur

ve
y

N
ot

 S
ur

e
N

ot
 a

 F
ac

to
r

M
in

or
 F

ac
to

r
M

aj
or

 F
ac

to
r

3%
15

%
19

%
63

%
W

an
tin

g 
a 

ho
m

e 
th

at
 w

ill
 h

el
p 

yo
u 

liv
e 

in
de

pe
nd

en
tly

 (n
=2

29
)

3%
16

%
29

%
52

%
Th

e 
co

st
 o

f m
ai

nt
ai

ni
ng

 y
ou

r h
om

e 
(n

=2
33

)

4%
17

%
33

%
46

%
Lo

w
er

 c
os

t o
f l

iv
in

g 
(n

=2
27

)

3%
26

%
29

%
42

%
Pe

rs
on

al
 s

af
et

y 
or

 s
ec

ur
ity

 c
on

ce
rn

s 
(n

=2
32

)

6%
19

%
37

%
37

%
Be

tt
er

 h
ea

lth
 c

ar
e 

fa
ci

lit
ie

s 
(n

=2
27

)

In
de

pe
nd

en
ce

 &
 a

ffo
rd

ab
ili

ty
 

ar
e 

m
ai

n 
re

as
on

s 
so

m
e 

m
ay

 
co

ns
id

er
 le

av
in

g 
Ly

m
an

9



H
o

w
 i

m
p

o
rt

an
t 

is
 i

t 
fo

r 
yo

u
to

 b
e 

ab
le

 t
o

 l
iv

e 
in

d
ep

en
d

en
tl

y 
in

 y
o

u
r 

h
o

m
e 

as
 y

o
u

 a
g

e?
 (

n
=

23
7)

95
%

 
sa

id
 th

at
 it

 w
as

 e
xt

re
m

el
y 

or
 v

er
y 

im
po

rt
an

t t
o 

liv
e 

in
de

pe
nd

en
tly

 in
 th

ei
r 

ho
m

e 
as

 th
ey

 a
ge

.

20
24

 L
ym

an
 C

om
m

un
ity

 S
ur

ve
y

69
%

26
%

4%
1%

0%10
%

20
%

30
%

40
%

50
%

60
%

70
%

80
%

Ex
tr

em
el

y
im

po
rt

an
t

Ve
ry

im
po

rt
an

t
So

m
ew

ha
t

im
po

rt
an

t
N

ot
 v

er
y

im
po

rt
an

t

10



A
s 

yo
u

 g
ro

w
 o

ld
er

, 
w

o
u

ld
 y

o
u

 c
o

n
si

d
er

 s
h

ar
in

g
 

yo
u

r 
h

o
m

e?

20
24

 L
ym

an
 C

om
m

un
ity

 S
ur

ve
y

Ye
s

N
o

N
ot

 
Su

re
Ye

s

N
o

N
ot

 
Su

re
Ye

s

N
o

N
ot

 
Su

re

W
ith

 fa
m

ily
 m

em
be

r(
s)

, n
ot

 
in

cl
ud

in
g 

a 
sp

ou
se

 (n
=2

33
)

W
ith

 a
 F

rie
nd

 (n
=2

27
)

W
ith

 s
om

eo
ne

 I 
do

 
no

t k
no

w
 (n

=2
27

)

11



H
o

w
 w

o
u

ld
 y

o
u

 r
at

e 
L

ym
an

 f
o

r 
th

e 
av

ai
la

b
il

it
y 

o
f

ea
ch

 o
f 

th
e 

fo
ll

o
w

in
g

? 
(n

=
22

9)

20
24

 L
ym

an
 C

om
m

un
ity

 S
ur

ve
y

0%20
%

40
%

Ex
ce

lle
nt

Ve
ry

G
oo

d
G

oo
d

Fa
ir

Po
or

N
ot

 S
ur

e

H
om

e 
m

od
ifi

ca
tio

n 
&

 re
pa

ir
co

nt
ra

ct
or

s 
w

ho
 a

re
tr

us
tw

or
th

y,
 d

o 
qu

al
ity

 w
or

k,
an

d 
ar

e 
af

fo
rd

ab
le

A 
ho

m
e 

re
pa

ir 
se

rv
ic

e 
fo

r l
ow

-
in

co
m

e 
an

d 
ol

de
r a

du
lts

 th
at

he
lp

s 
w

ith
 p

ro
je

ct
s 

su
ch

 a
s 

ro
of

or
 w

in
do

w
 re

pa
irs

Se
as

on
al

 s
er

vi
ce

s,
 s

uc
h 

as
 la

w
n-

m
ow

in
g 

an
d 

la
nd

sc
ap

in
g,

 fo
r

lo
w

-in
co

m
e 

an
d 

ol
de

r a
du

lts

12



H
o

w
 w

o
u

ld
 y

o
u

 r
at

e 
L

ym
an

 f
o

r 
ea

ch
 o

f 
th

e 
fo

ll
o

w
in

g
? 

(n
=

22
8)

20
24

 L
ym

an
 C

om
m

un
ity

 S
ur

ve
y

Ex
ce

lle
nt

V
er

y 
G

oo
d

G
oo

d
Fa

ir
Po

or
N

ot
 S

ur
e

a.
W

el
l-m

ai
nt

ai
ne

d 
ro

ad
s

7%
27

%
33

%
26

%
6%

0%

b.
Ea

sy
 to

 r
ea

d 
tr

af
fic

 s
ig

ns
11

%
31

%
40

%
13

%
5%

0%

c.
En

fo
rc

ed
 s

pe
ed

 li
m

it
s

3%
8%

23
%

24
%

38
%

2%

d.
Af

fo
rd

ab
le

 h
ou

si
ng

 o
pt

io
ns

 - 
su

ch
 a

s 
ol

de
r a

ct
iv

e
ad

ul
t 

co
m

m
un

iti
es

, a
ss

is
te

d 
liv

in
g 

an
d 

co
m

m
un

it
ie

s
w

it
h 

sh
ar

ed
 fa

ci
lit

ie
s 

an
d 

ou
td

oo
r 

sp
ac

es
 –

fo
r

ad
ul

ts
 o

f v
ar

yi
ng

 in
co

m
e 

le
ve

ls

2%
1%

8%
19

%
45

%
25

%

e.
W

el
l-m

ai
nt

ai
ne

d,
 s

af
e,

 lo
w

-in
co

m
e 

ho
us

in
g

2%
1%

7%
13

%
46

%
30

%

f.
W

el
l-m

ai
nt

ai
ne

d 
pa

rk
s

5%
13

%
30

%
22

%
18

%
12

%

g.
Sa

fe
 p

ar
ks

8%
17

%
28

%
21

%
6%

18
%

h.
Pu

bl
ic

 b
ui

ld
in

gs
 a

nd
 s

pa
ce

s 
in

cl
ud

in
g 

re
st

ro
om

s
th

at
 a

re
 a

cc
es

si
bl

e 
to

 p
eo

pl
e 

of
 d

iff
er

en
t 

ph
ys

ic
al

ab
ili

tie
s

4%
12

%
24

%
15

%
20

%
25

%

i.
En

ou
gh

 b
en

ch
es

 fo
r 

re
st

in
g 

in
 p

ub
lic

 a
re

as
,

in
cl

ud
in

g 
pa

rk
s 

an
d 

ar
ou

nd
 p

ub
lic

 b
ui

ld
in

gs
3%

5%
12

%
25

%
25

%
30

%

j.
Co

nv
en

ie
nt

ly
 lo

ca
te

d 
em

er
ge

nc
y 

ca
re

 c
en

te
rs

4%
10

%
30

%
23

%
23

%
10

%

k.
N

ei
gh

bo
rh

oo
d 

W
at

ch
 p

ro
gr

am
s

2%
2%

10
%

10
%

31
%

45
%

l.
Co

nv
en

ie
nt

ly
 lo

ca
te

d 
pu

bl
ic

 p
ar

ki
ng

 a
nd

ha
nd

ic
ap

pe
d 

pa
rk

in
g

4%
9%

27
%

17
%

17
%

26
%

13



T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

a
ti

o
n

: 
H

o
w

 d
o

 y
o

u
 u

su
al

ly
 g

et
 a

ro
u

n
d

 L
ym

a
n

 f
o

r 
ac

ti
vi

ti
es

 
in

cl
u

d
in

g
 (

b
u

t 
n

o
t 

li
m

it
ed

 t
o

) 
sh

o
p

p
in

g
, 

er
ra

n
d

s,
 m

ed
ic

a
l 

ap
p

o
in

tm
en

ts
, 

so
ci

a
li

zi
n

g
? 

(n
=

22
6)

97
%

D
riv

e 
yo

ur
se

lf
16

%
 

H
av

e 
ot

he
rs

 d
riv

e 
yo

u

11
%

 
Ri

de
 a

 b
ik

e

1%
 

U
se

 a
 sp

ec
ia

l 
tr

an
sp

or
ta

tio
n 

se
rv

ic
e,

 
su

ch
 a

s 
on

e 
fo

r s
en

io
rs

 o
r 

pe
rs

on
s w

ith
 d

is
ab

ili
ty

5%
 

So
m

e 
ot

he
r w

ay

3%
 

I d
o 

no
t g

et
 o

ut
 o

f t
he

 
ho

us
e

20
24

 L
ym

an
 C

om
m

un
ity

 S
ur

ve
y

14



H
ea

lt
h

 a
n

d
 W

el
ln

es
s:

 H
o

w
 w

o
u

ld
 y

o
u

 r
at

e 
L

ym
an

 f
o

r 
ac

ce
ss

 a
n

d
 

af
fo

rd
ab

il
it

y 
to

 e
ac

h
 o

f 
th

e 
fo

ll
o

w
in

g
? 

(n
=

21
2)

20
24

 L
ym

an
 C

om
m

un
ity

 S
ur

ve
y

Ex
ce

lle
nt

Ve
ry

 G
oo

d
Go

od
Fa

ir
Po

or
No

t S
ur

e
He

alt
h 

& 
we

lln
es

s p
ro

gr
am

s (
su

ch
 as

 cl
as

se
s) 

re
lat

ed
 to

 n
ut

rit
io

n,
 sm

ok
in

g c
es

sa
tio

n,
 w

eig
ht

 
co

nt
ro

l a
nd

 si
m

ila
r t

op
ics

1%
3%

8%
21

%
31

%
36

%

A 
se

rv
ice

 th
at

 p
ro

vid
es

 p
eo

pl
e w

ho
 ca

n 
he

lp
 se

ni
or

s 
ea

sil
y f

in
d 

an
d 

ac
ce

ss
 h

ea
lth

 an
d 

su
pp

or
tiv

e 
se

rv
ice

s
2%

2%
5%

14
%

28
%

49
%

Ho
m

e c
ar

e s
er

vic
es

 in
clu

di
ng

 p
er

so
na

l c
ar

e a
nd

 
ho

us
ek

ee
pi

ng
1%

2%
10

%
12

%
29

%
46

%

Te
leh

ea
lth

 ca
re

 se
rv

ice
1%

6%
14

%
14

%
14

%
50

%
Fit

ne
ss

 ac
tiv

iti
es

 th
at

 ar
e s

pe
cif

ica
lly

 ge
ar

ed
 to

wa
rd

 
ol

de
r a

du
lts

2%
3%

6%
13

%
39

%
37

%

He
alt

h 
& 

so
cia

l s
er

vic
es

1%
4%

9%
19

%
32

%
35

% 15



H
o

w
 o

ft
en

 d
o

 y
o

u
 f

ee
l 

th
e 

fo
ll

o
w

in
g

? 
(n

=
20

5)

20
24

 L
ym

an
 C

om
m

un
ity

 S
ur

ve
y

O
ft

en
So

m
et

im
es

Ra
re

ly
N

ev
er

I l
ac

k 
co

m
pa

ni
on

sh
ip

7%
15

%
26

%
52

%
I f

ee
l l

ef
t o

ut
4%

12
%

32
%

52
%

I f
ee

l i
so

la
te

d 
fr

om
 o

th
er

s
4%

15
%

29
%

52
%

16



If
 y

o
u

 w
er

e 
in

 t
ro

u
b

le
, 

h
o

w
 w

o
u

ld
 y

o
u

 g
et

 h
el

p
 a

t 
an

y 
ti

m
e 

o
f 

th
e 

d
ay

 o
r 

n
ig

h
t?

 (
n

=
20

5)

20
24

 L
ym

an
 C

om
m

un
ity

 S
ur

ve
y

Fr
ie

nd
s 

or
 

Fa
m

ily
44

%

Ca
ll 

91
1 

/ 
Em

er
ge

nc
y 

As
si

st
an

ce
50

%O
th

er
 S

ou
rc

e
6%

O
th

er
 S

ou
rc

es
:

N
ei

gh
bo

rs
,

An
 “

al
er

t”
 b

ut
to

n

17



D
o

 y
o

u
 u

se
 a

n
y 

o
f 

th
e 

fo
ll

o
w

in
g

 s
o

u
rc

es
 f

o
r 

co
n

ti
n

u
in

g
 e

d
u

ca
ti

o
n

, 
se

lf
-i

m
p

ro
ve

m
en

t 
o

r 
w

o
rk

sh
o

p
s?

 (
n

=
20

3)

47
%

 
Co

m
m

un
ity

 li
br

ar
y

46
%

 
Lo

ca
l o

rg
an

iz
at

io
ns

 
or

 b
us

in
es

se
s

39
%

 
O

nl
in

e 
pr

og
ra

m
s

31
%

 
I d

o 
no

t p
ar

tic
ip

at
e 

in
 

an
y 

co
nt

in
ui

ng
 

ed
uc

at
io

n 
or

 s
el

f-
im

pr
ov

em
en

t 

21
%

 
O

ffe
rin

gs
 th

ro
ug

h 
m

y 
w

or
k

21
%

Pa
rk

s 
&

 
Re

cr
ea

tio
n 

D
ep

ar
tm

en
t

16
%

 
Fa

ith
 

co
m

m
un

ity

7%
 

O
th

er
 S

ou
rc

es

20
24

 L
ym

an
 C

om
m

un
ity

 S
ur

ve
y

18



H
o

w
 c

o
m

fo
rt

ab
le

 a
re

 y
o

u
 u

si
n

g
 a

 c
o

m
p

u
te

r,
 t

ab
le

t 
o

r 
m

o
b

il
e 

d
ev

ic
e?

 (
n

=
20

3)

20
24

 L
ym

an
 C

om
m

un
ity

 S
ur

ve
y

0%1%

15
%

28
%

55
%

0%
10

%
20

%
30

%
40

%
50

%
60

%

N
ot

 v
er

y 
co

m
fo

rt
ab

le

N
ot

 a
t a

ll 
co

m
fo

rt
ab

le

So
m

ew
ha

t c
om

fo
rt

ab
le

Ve
ry

 c
om

fo
rt

ab
le

Ex
tr

em
el

y 
co

m
fo

rt
ab

le

98
%

ar
e 

co
m

fo
rt

ab
le

 u
si

ng
 

co
m

pu
te

rs
, t

ab
le

ts
 o

r 
m

ob
ile

 d
ev

ic
es

19



H
o

w
 w

o
u

ld
 y

o
u

 r
at

e 
L

ym
an

 f
o

r 
h

av
in

g
 e

ac
h

 o
f 

th
e 

fo
ll

o
w

in
g

? 
(n

=
19

5)

20
24

 L
ym

an
 C

om
m

un
ity

 S
ur

ve
y

Ex
ce

lle
nt

Ve
ry

 G
oo

d
G

oo
d

Fa
ir

Po
or

N
ot

 S
ur

e
a.

Co
nv

en
ie

nt
ly

 lo
ca

te
d 

en
te

rt
ai

nm
en

t
ve

nu
es

3%
5%

18
%

25
%

39
%

9%

b.
Ac

tiv
iti

es
 g

ea
re

d 
sp

ec
ifi

ca
lly

 to
w

ar
d

ol
de

r a
du

lts
1%

3%
7%

17
%

42
%

30
%

c.
Ac

tiv
iti

es
 th

at
 o

ffe
r s

en
io

r d
is

co
un

ts
1%

2%
6%

12
%

42
%

36
%

d.
Ac

tiv
iti

es
 th

at
 a

re
 a

ffo
rd

ab
le

 to
 a

ll
re

si
de

nt
s

2%
4%

16
%

23
%

26
%

30
%

e.
Ac

tiv
iti

es
 th

at
 in

vo
lv

e 
bo

th
 y

ou
ng

er
an

d 
ol

de
r p

eo
pl

e
2%

7%
16

%
22

%
25

%
28

%
f.

Lo
ca

l s
ch

oo
ls

 th
at

 in
vo

lv
e 

ol
de

r a
du

lts
in

 e
ve

nt
s 

an
d 

ac
tiv

iti
es

2%
4%

13
%

18
%

25
%

39
%

Co
nt

in
ui

ng
 e

du
ca

tio
n 

cl
as

se
s 

or
 s

oc
ia

l
cl

ub
s 

fo
r p

ur
su

in
g 

ne
w

 in
te

re
st

s,
 h

ob
bi

es
 

or
 p

as
si

on
s

2%
7%

17
%

23
%

24
%

27
%

h.
Ac

ce
ss

 to
 re

lia
bl

e 
an

d 
af

fo
rd

ab
le

 H
ig

h-
sp

ee
d 

in
te

rn
et

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
at

 h
om

e
7%

13
%

30
%

20
%

22
%

9%

20



W
h

at
 t

yp
e(

s)
 o

f 
o

rg
an

iz
ed

 s
o

ci
al

 /
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
ac

ti
vi

ti
es

 w
o

u
ld

 y
o

u
 

b
e 

m
o

st
 l

ik
el

y 
to

 e
n

g
a

g
e 

in
? 

(n
=

18
7)

20
24

 L
ym

an
 C

om
m

un
ity

 S
ur

ve
y

9%

12
%

27
%28
%

28
%31

%

38
%

44
%46

%

50
%

50
%

O
th

er
(s

)(p
le

as
e 

sp
ec

ify
)

N
ot

 in
te

re
st

ed
 in

 o
rg

an
iz

ed
 s

oc
ia

l /
…

M
us

ic
 a

nd
 D

an
ce

Co
m

m
un

ity
 G

ar
de

n

Bo
ok

 C
lu

b

Co
ffe

e 
Cl

ub

Ca
rd

 o
r B

oa
rd

 G
am

es

Ar
ts

 &
 C

ra
ft

s

W
al

ki
ng

 G
ro

up

Fi
tn

es
s

D
ay

 T
rip

s

To
p 

4 
ac

tiv
iti

es
1.

D
ay

 T
rip

s
2.

Fi
tn

es
s

3.
W

al
ki

ng
 G

ro
up

4.
Ar

ts
 &

 C
ra

ft
s

21



W
h

at
 t

yp
e(

s)
 o

f 
ed

u
ca

ti
o

n
 s

es
si

o
n

s 
w

o
u

ld
 y

o
u

 b
e 

m
o

st
 l

ik
el

y 
to

 
en

g
a

g
e 

in
? 

(n
=

16
5)

20
24

 L
ym

an
 C

om
m

un
ity

 S
ur

ve
y

To
p 

2 
Ed

uc
at

io
n 

Se
ss

io
ns

1.
Fi

tn
es

s,
 H

ea
lth

 &
 W

el
ln

es
s

2.
Ar

ts
 &

 C
ra

ft
s

12
%

26
%30

%33
%38

%

50
%

62
%

O
th

er
(s

) (
pl

ea
se

 s
pe

ci
fy

)

H
om

e 
Sa

fe
ty

 /
 O

rg
an

iz
at

io
n

M
on

ey
 M

an
ag

em
en

t

H
ea

lth
ca

re
 / 

M
ed

ic
ar

e

Te
ch

no
lo

gy

Ar
ts

 &
 C

ra
ft

s

Fi
tn

es
s,

 H
ea

lth
 &

 W
el

ln
es

s

22



W
h

at
 f

o
rm

at
 o

f 
ed

u
ca

ti
o

n
al

 s
es

si
o

n
s 

w
o

u
ld

 y
o

u
 b

e 
m

o
st

 l
ik

el
y 

to
 

en
g

a
g

e 
in

?(
n

=
18

5)

20
24

 L
ym

an
 C

om
m

un
ity

 S
ur

ve
y

To
p 

Fo
rm

at
 o

f E
du

ca
tio

n 
Se

ss
io

ns
1.

Co
m

m
un

ity
-b

as
ed

 W
or

ks
ho

ps
2.

O
nl

in
e 

Cl
as

se
s

3.
Co

nt
in

ui
ng

 E
d 

at
 L

oc
al

 S
ch

oo
l

1%

19
%

47
%

48
%

65
%

O
th

er
(s

) (
pl

ea
se

 s
pe

ci
fy

)

N
ot

 in
te

re
st

ed
 in

 a
tt

en
di

ng
ed

uc
at

io
na

l s
es

si
on

s

Co
nt

in
ui

ng
 E

du
ca

tio
n 

Pr
og

ra
m

s 
at

lo
ca

l s
ch

oo
l

O
nl

in
e 

cl
as

se
s

Co
m

m
un

ity
-b

as
ed

 W
or

ks
ho

ps

23



W
h

at
 m

ig
h

t 
p

re
ve

n
t 

yo
u

 f
ro

m
 j

o
in

in
g

 i
n

 o
n

 o
rg

an
iz

ed
 e

d
u

ca
ti

o
n

al
, 

so
ci

al
 /

 c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

ac
ti

vi
ti

es
? 

(n
=

17
5)

20
24

 L
ym

an
 C

om
m

un
ity

 S
ur

ve
y

To
p 

re
as

on
 n

ot
 jo

in
in

g 
ac

tiv
iti

es
:

Pe
op

le
 a

re
 n

ot
 a

w
ar

e 
of

 w
ha

t i
s 

av
ai

la
bl

e

3%

9%

23
%

33
%

83
%

La
ck

 o
f t

ra
ns

po
rt

at
io

n

O
th

er
(s

) (
pl

ea
se

 s
pe

ci
fy

)

N
ot

 c
om

fo
rt

ab
le

 jo
in

in
g 

by
m

ys
el

f

Ex
pe

ns
e

N
ot

 a
w

ar
e 

of
 w

ha
t i

s a
va

ila
bl

e

24



V
o

lu
n

te
er

in
g

 a
n

d
 C

iv
ic

 E
n

g
a

g
em

en
t 

H
o

w
 i

n
te

re
st

ed
 w

o
u

ld
 y

o
u

 b
e 

in
 v

o
lu

n
te

er
in

g
 o

n
 a

 t
o

w
n

 c
o

m
m

it
te

e,
 a

ss
u

m
in

g
 t

h
er

e 
is

 
so

m
et

h
in

g
 t

h
at

 i
s 

o
f 

p
ar

ti
cu

la
r 

in
te

re
st

 t
o

 y
o

u
? 

(n
=

18
6)

20
24

 L
ym

an
 C

om
m

un
ity

 S
ur

ve
y

Ve
ry

 
in

te
re

st
ed

, 
19

%

So
m

ew
ha

t 
in

te
re

st
ed

, 
51

%

N
ot

 in
te

re
st

ed
 

at
 a

ll,
 3

0%

70
%

 
ar

e 
So

m
ew

ha
t o

r V
er

y 
In

te
re

st
ed

 in
 v

ol
un

te
er

in
g 

on
 to

w
n 

co
m

m
itt

ee

25



C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

 I
n

fo
rm

a
ti

o
n

: 
W

o
u

ld
 y

o
u

 t
u

rn
 t

o
 t

h
e

 f
o

ll
o

w
in

g
 r

e
so

u
rc

e
s 

if
 y

o
u

, 
a

 f
a

m
il

y
 

m
e

m
b

e
r 

o
r 

fr
ie

n
d

 n
e

e
d

e
d

 i
n

fo
rm

a
ti

o
n

 a
b

o
u

t 
se

rv
ic

e
s 

fo
r 

o
ld

e
r 

a
d

u
lt

s 
su

c
h

 a
s 

c
a

re
g

iv
in

g
 

se
rv

ic
e

s,
 h

o
m

e
 d

e
li

ve
re

d
 m

e
a

ls
, 

h
o

m
e

 r
e

p
a

ir
, 

m
e

d
ic

a
l 

tr
a

n
sp

o
rt

 o
r 

so
c

ia
l 

a
c

ti
v

it
ie

s?
 

(n
=

18
0

)

20
24

 L
ym

an
 C

om
m

un
ity

 S
ur

ve
y

N
O

T 
SU

RE
N

O
YE

S

26



G
en

d
er

 o
f 

R
es

p
o

n
d

en
ts

 (
n

=
18

0)

20
24

 L
ym

an
 C

om
m

un
ity

 S
ur

ve
y M
al

e,
 3

6%

Fe
m

al
e,

 6
3%

N
on

-b
in

ar
y,

 
1%

An
ot

he
r g

en
de

r 
id

en
tit

y,
 1

%

27



C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

M
em

b
er

 H
ea

lt
h

 (
S

el
f 

R
at

in
g

) 
(N

=
18

1)

15
%

Ex
ce

lle
nt

51
%

Ve
ry

 G
oo

d
28

%
G

oo
d

6% Fa
ir

1% Po
or

20
24

 L
ym

an
Co

m
m

un
ity

 S
ur

ve
y

94
%

of
 re

sp
on

de
nt

s f
ee

l t
he

y 
ar

e 
in

 
G

oo
d 

to
 E

xc
el

le
nt

 H
ea

lth

28



A
 f

a
m

il
y

 c
a

re
g

iv
er

 i
s 

so
m

eo
n

e 
w

h
o

 p
ro

vi
d

es
 c

a
re

 f
o

r 
a

n
 a

d
u

lt
 l

o
ve

d
 o

n
e 

w
h

o
 i

s 
il

l,
 

fr
a

il
, 

el
d

e
rl

y 
o

r 
h

a
s 

a
 p

h
y

si
c

a
l,

 m
en

ta
l 

o
r 

e
m

o
ti

o
n

a
l 

d
is

ab
il

it
y.

 T
h

is
 c

a
re

 m
a

y 
in

cl
u

d
e

 h
el

p
in

g
 w

it
h

 m
e

a
ls

, 
h

o
u

se
h

o
ld

 c
h

o
re

s,
 s

h
o

p
p

in
g

, 
tr

a
n

sp
o

rt
a

ti
o

n
, 

p
er

so
n

a
l 

h
yg

ie
n

e
, 

m
a

n
a

g
in

g
 m

e
d

ic
a

l 
c

a
re

 o
r 

fi
n

a
n

c
es

, 
o

r 
e

ve
n

 v
is

it
in

g
 r

e
g

u
la

rl
y 

to
 s

e
e 

h
o

w
 

th
e

y 
a

re
 d

o
in

g
. 

T
h

is
 a

d
u

lt
 n

ee
d

 n
o

t 
li

ve
 w

it
h

 y
o

u
. 

A
re

 y
o

u
 c

u
rr

en
tl

y
 a

 f
a

m
il

y 
ca

re
g

iv
er

 p
ro

vi
d

in
g

 u
n

p
a

id
 c

a
re

 t
o

 a
n

 a
d

u
lt

 l
o

ve
d

 o
n

e?
 (

N
=

18
2)

18
%

Ye
s

82
%

N
o

20
24

 L
ym

an
 C

om
m

un
ity

 S
ur

ve
y

29



H
o

w
 l

ik
el

y 
is

 i
t 

th
at

 y
o

u
 w

il
l 

p
ro

vi
d

e 
u

n
p

ai
d

 c
ar

e 
to

 a
n

 a
d

u
lt

 
lo

ve
d

 o
n

e 
in

 t
h

e 
fu

tu
re

? 
(n

=
18

2)

29
%

Ex
tr

em
el

y 
lik

el
y

23
%

 
Ve

ry
 li

ke
ly

29
%

 
So

m
ew

ha
t l

ik
el

y
14

%
 

N
ot

 V
er

y 
lik

el
y

6%
N

ot
 li

ke
ly

 a
t a

ll

20
24

 L
ym

an
 C

om
m

un
ity

 S
ur

ve
y

80
%

of
 re

sp
on

de
nt

s a
re

 S
om

ew
ha

t 
to

 E
xt

re
m

el
y 

Li
ke

ly
 to

 b
ec

om
e 

ca
re

gi
ve

rs
 in

 th
e 

fu
tu

re
. 

30



S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
:

P
O

SI
T

IV
E

 F
E

E
D

B
A

C
K

:

•
82

%
 f

ee
l L

ym
an

 is
 a

 g
oo

d 
to

 e
xc

el
le

nt
 p

la
ce

 to
 li

ve
 a

s 
th

ey
 a

ge

•
94

%
 c

on
si

de
r 

th
em

se
lv

es
 to

 b
e 

in
 g

oo
d 

he
al

th

•
95

%
 a

re
 a

bl
e 

to
 d

riv
e 

th
em

se
lv

es

•
83

%
 a

re
 c

om
fo

rt
ab

le
 w

ith
 te

ch
no

lo
gy

, i
.e

., 
us

in
g 

a 
co

m
pu

te
r, 

ta
bl

et
 o

r 
m

ob
ile

 d
ev

ic
e

A
R

E
A

S 
T

O
 D

E
V

E
L

O
P

:

•
A

bi
lit

y 
to

 li
ve

 in
de

pe
nd

en
tly

 &
 h

om
e 

m
ai

nt
en

an
ce

 a
ff

or
da

bi
lit

y

•
A

ff
or

da
bl

e 
ho

us
in

g

•
A

ct
iv

iti
es

 g
ea

re
d 

to
w

ar
ds

 o
ld

er
 a

du
lts

•
G

re
at

es
t o

bs
ta

cl
e 

to
 p

ar
tic

ip
at

io
n 

in
 a

ct
iv

iti
es

 is
 n

ot
 b

ei
ng

 a
w

ar
e 

of
 w

ha
t’s

 a
va

ila
bl

e 
(8

3%
)

20
24

 L
ym

an
 C

om
m

un
ity

 S
ur

ve
y

31



N
E

X
T

 S
T

E
P

S
:

•
H

ol
d 

a 
ro

un
dt

ab
le

 d
is

cu
ss

io
n 

op
en

 to
 p

ub
lic

 a
nd

 c
ur

re
nt

 c
om

m
itt

ee
 m

em
be

rs
•

Fo
rm

 a
n 

ad
 h

oc
 c

om
m

itt
ee

 to
 c

re
at

e 
A

ct
io

n 
P

la
n 

(S
te

p 
3 

of
 A

A
R

P
 A

ge
-F

rie
nd

ly
Pr

oc
es

s)
•

In
ve

st
ig

at
e 

fu
nd

in
g 

op
tio

ns
 to

 s
up

po
rt

 A
ct

io
n 

Pl
an

•
G

ra
nt

s
•

M
at

er
ia

l, 
la

bo
r 

&
 m

on
et

ar
y 

do
na

tio
ns

•
Se

ek
 p

ar
tn

er
s 

w
ill

in
g 

to
 c

on
tr

ib
ut

e 
/ 

pa
rt

ic
ip

at
e:

•
So

ut
he

rn
 M

ai
ne

 A
ge

nc
y 

on
 A

gi
ng

•
Y

or
k 

C
ou

nt
y 

C
om

m
un

ity
 A

ct
io

n
•

L
ym

an
 P

ar
ks

 &
 R

ec
•

C
om

m
un

ity
 L

ib
ra

ry
•

N
ei

gh
bo

ri
ng

 to
w

ns
•

L
oc

al
 b

us
in

es
se

s

20
24

 L
ym

an
 C

om
m

un
ity

 S
ur

ve
y

32



ITEM #4: (a.) GMFR Report













ITEM #4: (b.) IT Committee proposal 











ITEM #4: (d.) Expense Report

























COMMITTEE
HANDBOOK

TOWN OF
LYMAN

ITEM #5:  (a . )  Committee  
Handbook  



Town of Lyman 

Committee Handbook 

Introduction & Purpose ………………………………………………………………………………………… 1 

Mission Statement ………………………………………………………………………………………………. 2 

Core Values ………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 2 

Definitions ………………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 2 

Welcome ……………………………………………………………………………………………………………. 4 

Committee Types & Structure ………………………………………………………………………………. 4 

How to join a committee ……………………………………………………………………………… 5 

Committee Project Statement ………………………………………………………………......... 5 

Appointment & Reappointment ……………………………………………………………………. 6 

Vacancies …………………………………………………………………………………………………. 6 

Terms ……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 6 

Quorum ……………………………………………………………………………………………………. 6 

Resignation, Removal, & Other Forfeiture ………………………………………………………. 7 

Conflict of Interest ………………………………………………………………………………………………. 7 

Committee Officers ……………………………………………………………………………………………… 8 

Election of Officers …………………………………………………………………………………….. 8 

Roles & Responsibilities of Officers ………………………………………………………………. 8 

Standards of Conduct ………………………………………………………………………………………….. 9 

Training & Resources ……………………………………………………………………………………………. 10 

Select Board Liaison ……………………………………………………………………………………………. 11 

Staff Liaison ………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 11 

Meetings …………………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 11 

By-laws and conduct ………………………………………………………………………………….. 11 

Executive Session ………………………………………………………………………………………. 12 

Public Comment & Public Hearings ………………………………………………………………. 12 

Meeting locations ………………………………………………………………………………………. 13 

Requests for Meeting Room Availability …………………………………………………………. 13 

Posting and Notification of Meetings ……………………………………………………………… 13 

Audio /Video Equipment Use Policy ………………………………………………………………. 13 

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

Committee Handbook 

Remote Meetings & Policy …………………………………………………………………………… 14 

Communications & Publications ………………………………………………………………………….. 14 

Town Website ………………………………….………………………………………………………… 15 

Social Media Policy ……………………………………………………………………………………. 15 

Acceptable Use Policy ……………………………………………………………………………….. 16 

MMA and legal correspondence ……………………………………………………….………….. 16 

Maine Freedom of Access Act ……………………………………………………………………….……… 16 

Email, Texting, Telephone, & Other Electronic Communications ……………….………. 17 

Public Records, Record Keeping & Reporting …………………………………………………. 17 

Budgets & Financial Oversight ……………………………………………………………………............ 18 

Purchasing Policy ……………………………………………………………………………………………….. 18 

Receipt, Funds, Grants, Donations, & Gifts …………………………………………………………… 19 

Annual Town Report ……………………………………………………………………………………………. 19 

Use of Town Equipment & Facilities ……………………………………………………………………… 19 

Amendment …………………………….. …………………………………………………………………….… 19 

Appendix A: Sample Agenda ………………………………………………………………………………….. 21 

Appendix B: Sample Meeting Minutes ……………………………………………………………………… 22 

Appendix C: Sample/Template - By-laws ………………………………………………………………….. 24 

Appendix D: Sample/Template - Committee Remote Meetings Policy …………………………… 27 

Appendix E: Committee Budget Request Worksheet ………………………………………………….. 29 

Appendix F: Worksheet for Creating Goals and Initiatives …………. ………………………………. 31 

Appendix G: Purchasing Policy ……………………………………………………………………………….. 32 

Appendix H: Social Media & Communications Policy …………………………………………………. 34 

Appendix I: Acceptable Use Policy ………………………………………………………………………….. 36 

Appendix J: Town of Lyman Municipal Code of Ethics …………………………………………………. 46 

Appendix K: MMA FOAA Information Packet …………. …………………………………………………. 53 

Appendix L: Acknowledgement of Receipt of Handbook …………………………………………….. 72 DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

Committee Handbook 

INTRODUCTION 

Welcome to the Town of Lyman Committee Handbook! This guide has been developed to 

provide volunteers with a clear understanding of their roles, responsibilities, and the procedures 

necessary to support the successful operation of our various municipal boards and committees. 

Whether you are a new appointee or a seasoned volunteer, this handbook serves as a resource to 

help you navigate your work and contribute effectively to the goals of the Town. 

Boards, committees, commissions, and volunteers play an essential role in shaping our 

community by providing valuable input, recommendations, and decisions on matters of local 

governance. The time, energy, and expertise you bring to this role are deeply appreciated and 

vital to the success of our Town. This handbook outlines the policies and procedures that guide 

local governmental operations, including meeting protocols, public engagement, and 

collaboration with town staff and elected officials. 

Our aim is to foster a spirit of cooperation, transparency, and accountability in all committee 

activities. By adhering to these principles, we can ensure that the work of each committee 

reflects the needs and aspirations of our community. 

Thank you for your dedication to serving the Town of Lyman. Your contributions make a lasting 

difference in the quality of life for all who live and work here. 

PURPOSE 

This handbook aims to provide clear guidelines for the operation, responsibilities, and 

expectations of volunteers among the Towns committees. For the purpose of this handbook, the 

term committee refers to all Town appointed committees, boards, commissions, and other 

volunteers. This handbook serves as a resource to: 

• Outline the roles and responsibilities of volunteers.

• Promote consistency and accountability in compliance with Town policies.

• Limit the liability of the Town and volunteers

• Encourage inclusive and diverse representation within committees.

• Foster understanding of the Town’s values and strategic goals.

By offering this structured approach, the handbook ensures that volunteers feel empowered, 

informed, and supported in their efforts. 

1

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

Committee Handbook 

MISSION STATEMENT 

The Town of Lyman is committed to fostering civic engagement through the active participation 

of its residents in committees. These committees provide vital support to the town's governance, 

ensuring that decisions reflect diverse perspectives and benefit the entire community. The Town 

values collaboration, transparency, and community service, and this handbook serves as a guide 

for volunteers to contribute meaningfully to Lyman’s growth and success. 

CORE VALUES 

Culture of Excellence: We foster a community built on mutual respect and dignity for all 

individuals. We value inclusivity, welcoming diverse perspectives, and embracing our 

differences to create a sense of belonging. We rely on collaboration and teamwork to serve the 

public effectively. We uphold high ethical standards in our personal, professional, and 

organizational conduct. We are dedicated to innovation and adaptability to meet the evolving 

needs of the community through the resources available.  

Accountability: We operate with transparency and take responsibility for our actions and ensure 

our decisions are aligned with the community’s best interest, while delivering practical and cost-

effective services.  

Civic Engagement: We openly communicate with the public and each other fostering 

collaboration and a sense of shared ownership in Town initiatives.  

Diversity, Inclusion, Connection: We embrace diverse perspectives, promote equity, and strive 

to ensure people from all backgrounds and experiences feel welcomed, respected, and accepted.  

Sustainability: we support initiatives that promote long-term benefits for the community and 

utilize strategic planning methods. 

Innovation: We encourage creative problem-solving and forward-thinking approaches to address 

challenges and improve services.  

Integrity & Trust: We uphold high ethical standards, act honestly, and cultivate trust through 

consistent and fair decision-making.  

DEFINITIONS 

Ad-hoc: Created as a temporary committee and has specific purpose 

and deadlines.  

2

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

Committee Handbook 

Agenda: A list of items to be discussed in a formal meeting 

By-Laws: Rules outlining the conduct of a committee 

Committee: A group of People organized and appointed for a specific 

function. Term is synonymous with “Board” and 

“Commission” for the purpose of this Handbook.  

Conflict of Interest: A situation in which the concerns or aims of two different 

parties are incompatible 

Ex-officio: A non-voting member acting in a capacity by virtue of 

one’s position or status 

Harassment: Creation of an unpleasant or hostile situation by uninvited 

and unwelcomed verbal or physical conduct.  

Maine Freedom of Access Act: A State statute that is intended to open government of 

Maine by guaranteeing access to “public records” and 

“public proceedings” of state and local government bodies 

and agencies.   

Meeting Minutes: A written summarized record of the proceedings of a 

meeting 

Policy: A course or principle of action adopted or proposed by a 

government, party, business, or individual. 

Project Statement: A concise and focused declaration that outlines the purpose, 

function, objectives, and intended outcomes of a 

committee. 

Quorum: The minimum number of members of a committee that 

must be present at any of its meetings to conduct business. 

Resignation: An act of retiring from or giving up a position 

Select Board Liaison: An assigned member of the Select Board who acts on 

behalf of the Board to facilitate a working relationship 

between the Select Board and the Committee. 

Staff Liaison: An assigned employee of the Town of Lyman who acts on 

behalf of the Town to facilitate a working relationship 

between the Town Administration and the Committee. 

3

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

Committee Handbook 

Town Charter: The governing document of the Town of Lyman , 

consisting of written lists of articles outlining the rights and 

privileges of the Town, which establishes the form of 

government, administrative, rulemaking and budget process 

and is adopted by public vote. 

Town Manager: The chief administrative official of the Town of Lyman. 

Volunteer: A person who freely offers to take part in an enterprise or 

undertake a task. Also refers to a committee member for the 

purpose of this Handbook.  

WELCOME 

Thank you for your willingness to serve on one of the Town of Lyman’s committees! Your 

dedication to our community is essential to the success of our local government and the well-

being of our residents. 

The Town of Lyman depends on the knowledge, skills, and commitment of volunteers like you to 

benefit the community by providing input on important decisions and guiding initiatives that 

impact our future. Committees play a vital role in advising the Select Board, engaging with 

residents, and ensuring transparency and inclusivity in municipal decision-making. 

As a member of a Town committee, you are an ambassador of the Town of Lyman, contributing 

to a collaborative process that fosters trust, respect, and thoughtful progress. This handbook is 

designed to help you understand your role, the expectations of committee service, and the 

resources available to support you. 

We hope this guide will provide you with the tools and information you need to serve effectively 

and confidently. Whether you are new to municipal service or a seasoned volunteer, your voice is 

invaluable in shaping Lyman’s path forward. 

COMMITTEE TYPES & STRUCTURE 

Committees are an essential part of local governance, providing opportunities for residents to 

actively participate in shaping the future of Lyman. This section outlines the types of 

committees, how to join them, and general information about their structure. For the purpose of 

this handbook, the term “committee” shall refer to all boards, committees, and commissions. 

Elected Offices:  Elected offices are filled at Town Meeting for a term of three years, 

with positions staggered so that seats become available each year. These positions include 

4

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

Committee Handbook 

Selectpersons, RSU #57 School Board of Directors, and Budget Committee Members. 

Candidates may either be elected by write-in vote or complete the nomination by petition 

process to have their name placed on the ballot for the Annual Town Election. 

Nomination papers are provided by the Town Clerk annually in accordance with State 

law.  

Boards: Boards are established to oversee and execute functions of Town Government. 

Commissions: Commissions are established for specific purposes and may dissolve once 

their tasks are completed, unless otherwise designated as permanent. 

Standing Committee: Standing committees are permanent committees with a general 

purpose and function. These committees are established by ordinance or Town Meeting. 

Ad Hoc Committee: Ad hoc committees are temporary committees with specific tasks 

assigned to them. These committees may be established by the Select Board and may 

exist for a period of up to two years.  

How to Join a Committee 

Outside of elected offices filled at Town Meeting, residents interested in volunteering for a 

committee must complete a Committee Application Form, available on the Town’s website or at 

the Town Office. To qualify for eligibility, in accordance with Town Charter, volunteers must be 

residents of the Town and a registered voter.  

Applications are reviewed by the Town Manager, who may conduct interviews and provide 

recommendations to the Select Board. The Select Board serves as the final appointing authority. 

Once appointed, new members will receive confirmation of their term and relevant onboarding 

materials. 

Committee Project Statement 

The Town Manager prepares a project statement for each committee. The project statement is a 

concise document outlining the committee’s composition, purpose, goals, and key policies 

regarding their operation. This statement is approved by the Select Board and serves as a guiding 

document to focus committee efforts and ensure alignment with town priorities. 

There are various boards and committees’ volunteers can join, each 

with unique missions and functions serving the community. Examples 

include the Planning Board, Zoning Board of Appeals, Ordinance 

Review Committee, Cemetery Committee, Parks & Recreation 

Committee, Conservation and Forestry Committee, Recycling & 

Waste Committee, Buildings & Grounds Committee, and others. For 

more information on these committees, visit the Town’s website. 

Join a Committee 

5

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

Committee Handbook 

Appointment & Reappointment 

Appointments to committees are made by the Select Board following a review of applications. 

Considerations include relevant skills, letters of interest, committee recommendations, and other 

qualifications. The Select Board determines term lengths and specific roles, such as alternate 

versus regular membership, as applicable (e.g., on the Planning Board or Board of Appeals). 

Reappointments are not automatic. Members seeking reappointment must submit a written 

request and may be evaluated based on their past contributions. Factors for reappointment 

include attendance, performance, the evolving needs of the committee, and overall contributions. 

A committee member is under no obligation to accept reappointment nor is the appointing 

authority obligated to offer reappointment 

Members must be sworn in by the Town Clerk before attending meetings as official members. 

Appointees have 30 days from notification of appointment to take the oath. Failure to do so may 

result in removal by the Select Board.  

Committee members must perform the duties incumbent as a member of a Town committee 

according to the constitution of the United States of America, the laws of the State of Maine, the 

Town of Lyman Municipal Charter, and applicable ordinances. As a member of a committee, you 

represent citizens, the Select Board and the Town Manager, and must abide by a number of 

policies and procedures which govern public bodies including Town Charter, ordinances, 

personnel policies, and the rules of this handbook.  

Vacancies 

Vacancies can occur at any time and information about each Committee is posted on the Town’s 

website. If no immediate openings are available, applications are kept on file in a pool for future 

consideration. Residents are encouraged to apply, and the Select Board will work to fill 

vacancies. When multiple vacancies occur, each with varied term lengths, the Select Board will 

determine which applicant fills which term. 

Terms 

Committee members serve staggered terms to maintain continuity, so no committee is composed 

entirely of new members. Members serve until successors are appointed unless they resign or are 

removed. The Town Manager maintains a list of appointed members and their terms.  

Quorum 

A quorum is the minimum number of members required for a committee to conduct official 

business. Unless otherwise specified, a quorum consists of a majority of the committee’s 

appointed members. Meetings without a quorum may be held for discussion but cannot take 

formal votes or decisions 

6

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

Committee Handbook 

Resignation, Removal, and other Forfeiture 

A vacancy shall occur upon non-acceptance, resignation, death, failure to qualify as a registered 

voter and resident of the Town of Lyman, failure to take oath within 30 days of notification of 

appointment, by removal by an affirmative vote of a majority of the Select Board, or by any 

other manner provided by law.  

A committee member who is no longer able to serve should resign promptly so that the vacancy 

may be filled. A written resignation must be submitted to the Town Manager’s office who will 

place the resignation on the next available agenda for the Select Board to take action on.  

The Select Board has the authority to remove appointees from any board, commission, or 

committee for cause, following notice and a hearing, and by a majority vote of the Board. The 

appointee will receive written notice of the charges against them and a scheduled hearing before 

the Select Board. Under Maine law, the appointee has the right to request in writing that their 

hearing be conducted in a public meeting, in accordance with M.R.S.A. 1 §405, along with all 

other applicable legal provisions. 

Grounds for removal may include, but are not limited to, failure to attend regular meetings, 

violations of explicit prohibitions outlined in Town Charter, Personnel Policies, or this 

Handbook, substantiated complaints, failure to fulfill the duties and responsibilities of the 

committee, or other reasons deemed appropriate by the Select Board. Each case will be reviewed 

on its merits, and the Select Board will act in the best interest of the Town. 

CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

All committee members must act with fairness and impartiality in carrying out their duties. 

Members are expected to ensure that their actions do not create actual or potential personal or 

financial gain, either directly or indirectly, for themselves, family members, close friends, or 

associated parties. 

Any actual or potential conflicts of interest must be disclosed promptly and transparently to the 

Chair, Town Manager, and/or Select Board liaison. If a conflict is determined to exist, the 

member must recuse themselves from participating in discussions, deliberations, or decision-

making on the matter. This ensures the integrity of the committee’s work and upholds public 

trust.  

7

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

Committee Handbook 

COMMITTEE OFFICERS 

Committee officers are essential for effective operations. Each committee elects its officers to 

provide leadership, ensure adherence to town policies, and promote orderly and efficient 

meetings. 

Election of Officers 

Committees elect officers annually at the beginning of the fiscal year in July. If the committee is 

newly formed, then they shall elect their officers during their first meeting and then annually in 

July thereafter. Each committee must elect at a minimum a Chair and a Correspondence 

Secretary. Committees may also elect a Vice Chair to act in the absence of the Chair. Election of 

officers are conducted by a majority vote of the members present, provided a quorum is 

achieved. Nominations for each officer are taken from the floor, and all committee members are 

eligible to serve as officers, unless otherwise serving as an alternate member. Officers serve for 

one year or until successors are elected. An officer may be reelected to their position. It is the 

responsibility of the newly elected chair to notify the Town Manager of changes in membership 

and officers.  

Roles & Responsibilities of Officers 

Chair: The Chair serves as the primary leader and facilitator of the committee. The chair has 

the same rights as any other member to offer resolutions, make motions, and vote. The Chair 

should have or be able to obtain knowledge of applicable Maine laws, Town Charter, 

ordinances, policies, and other information relative to the committee. Responsibilities 

include: 

o Presides over meetings, maintains order, and ensures all participants and members

remain respectful and adhere to proper decorum.

o Develops meeting agendas and if posting on the Town’s website, ensures they are

submitted to the Town Manager via email at least three business days prior to the

meeting.

o Coordinates and reserves the meeting room in advance by emailing the Town

Manager, ensuring availability.

o Ensures adherence to open meeting laws, the Town Charter, ordinances, Town

policies, and other applicable rules and regulations.

o Represents the committee in communications with the Select Board, Town Manager,

and the public.

o Delegates tasks and assigns responsibilities to members as necessary to promote

efficient operation and fulfill the committee’s objectives.

8

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

Committee Handbook 

Vice-Chair: The Vice-Chair acts as the Chair’s assistant and assumes the Chair’s 

responsibilities in their absence. Should the Chair resign, the Vice Chair will serve as the 

Chair until the committee elects a new Chair.  Responsibilities include: 

o Presides over meetings in the absence of the Chair.

o Assists the Chair with agenda preparation and other tasks as requested.

o Ensures continuity of leadership and support within the committee.

Correspondence Secretary: The Secretary is responsible for ensuring accurate and timely 

documentation of the committee’s activities. In this position, it is important to understand 

Maine laws with public records and the Secretary should familiarize themselves with such 

rules and regulations. Responsibilities include: 

o Prepares meeting minutes in compliance with Maine’s Freedom of Access Act

(FOAA).

o Submits meeting minutes, reports, drafts, as well as other committee documents to the

Town Manager for public record.

o Assists the Chair with other administrative tasks as needed or delegated.

STANDARDS OF CONDUCT 

Standards of Conduct 

Committee members are representatives of the Town and expected to uphold the highest 

standards of ethical behavior, integrity, and professionalism in the performance of their duties. It 

is important to maintain public trust and confidence in our local government and all officials, 

whether an employee, elected, or volunteer, should maintain civility and respect regardless of 

any difference of opinion. Everyone should strive for constructive and diplomatic practices in all 

matters with the goal of learning from one another and instituting better public policy. 

Committee members are expected to act in a professional manner at meetings even when diverse 

ideas or opinions are presented. If differences cannot be resolved committee members should 

consult with the Select Board Liaison, and/or Town Manager who may assist in finding 

resolution.   

In effort to promote civility, build trust, and inspire confidence in our local government, 

committee members must strive to: Act with fairness, impartiality, and in the best interests of the 

Town; Avoid personal or financial conflicts of interest, as well as disclose and recuse themselves 

if such conflicts arise; Treat fellow members, staff, and the public with respect and courtesy; 

Comply with all applicable laws, including Maine’s Freedom of Access Act (FOAA), Town 

Charter, Town ordinances, and Town policies; Refrain from engaging in behavior that disrupts 

meetings or undermines public confidence in the committee’s work. 

9

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

Committee Handbook 

All committee members, elected officials, volunteers, and employees are expected to uphold and 

abide by the Town’s Non-Discrimination and Harassment policies, which requires that: 

o Employees, committee members, elected officials, and volunteers shall refrain from

any form of workplace abuse, bullying, harassment, discrimination, or violence. This

includes refraining from unwelcome, offensive, or abusive comments or conduct, or

discriminatory treatment, related to an individual’s race, religion, age, sex, physical or

mental disability, sexual orientation, including gender identity and expression,

national origin, genetic predisposition, color, political affiliation, whistleblower

activity, or any other status protected by law.

o Employees, committee members, elected officials, and volunteers shall cooperate

fully in any investigation of a workplace abuse, harassment, discrimination, or

violence complaint.

o Failure to adhere to these standards is a violation of law and Town policy and may

result in removal from the committee.

See also, Town of Lyman Personnel Policy Handbook, Section 3 

TRAINING & RESOURCES 

The Town encourages committee members to participate in ongoing training to enhance their 

understanding of municipal governance and their roles and responsibilities. Committees and 

volunteers are also encouraged to consult the Town Manager on procedural, policy, or any other 

matters of interest. Some training courses may be available at no cost, while others are offered 

through the Maine Municipal Association (MMA) as part of the Town's membership. 

The Town allocates funds in its budget to cover membership dues and training course fees. 

Committee members are encouraged to sign up for training relevant to their committee’s work 

and objectives and pending appropriate funding is available. To register for a course, the 

committee member must email a request to the Town Manager, who will authorize payment for 

the training. The Town Manager may deny the request or offer alternative recommendations if 

the funding is not available or if the training is not relevant to the committee’s objectives. If the 

training is free, the committee member may register independently without Town Manager 

approval. 

For training courses unrelated to a committee’s objectives, members may attend independently at 

the non-member rate. In these cases, the member is responsible for arranging and covering the 

cost of the training, which cannot be billed to the Town under its membership. 

10

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

Committee Handbook 

SELECT BOARD LIAISON 

The Select Board may appoint members from within the Board to serve as liaisons to Town 

committees. A Select Board liaison may be assigned to multiple committees, depending on the 

Board's decision. Not all committees will have a Select Board liaison, as appointments are made 

at the discretion of the Board. 

The liaison's role is to monitor the committee’s progress and provide support when needed. 

Attendance at committee meetings by the liaison is optional and left to the discretion of the 

assigned Select Board member. 

The liaison maintains regular communication with the committee, reviews its deliberations and 

minutes, assists with clarifications of Town policies or procedures and is included in the 

distribution of informational notices and other updates. Additionally, the liaison keeps the Town 

Manager and the Select Board informed and updated on the committee’s activities and progress. 

STAFF LIAISON 

Town employees may serve on committees in a non-voting capacity, offering technical support 

and information as needed. Staff liaisons, if appointed, will facilitate communication between the 

committee, other Town employees, and the Town Manager, assisting with the exchange of 

relevant information about the committee's work and significant matters. The appointment of 

staff liaisons is not mandatory and is at the sole discretion of the Town Manager. Committees are 

not authorized to issue directives to Town employees, whether those employees are serving on 

the committee or in any other capacity. 

MEETINGS 

Committees act as representatives of the Town of Lyman, and all committee meetings shall be 

open to the public to encourage community engagement and maintain transparency. Meetings 

may be held weekly, bi-weekly, monthly, quarterly, or less frequently, as appropriate. When 

possible, committees should establish a regular meeting time, day, and location. Meetings must 

be scheduled in advance to allow reasonable public notice, held when a quorum is present, and 

documented in accordance with Maine laws. All records of proceedings and other public 

documents must be kept by the Town Hall to comply with FOAA requirements.  

By-laws, Mission Statement, and Conduct 

Section Five (5) of the Town Charter requires each board and committee to adopt by-laws 

governing their meeting conduct and to develop a Mission Statement that prioritizes their goals 

11

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

Committee Handbook 

and objectives. Both the by-laws and Mission Statement are reviewed and approved annually by 

the Select Board.  

Committees establish by-laws that govern their procedural conduct. These by-laws focus on 

internal committee procedures and administrative matters and cannot govern other government 

bodies, change rules for citizen participation established by State law, ordinance, or Town 

Charter, or override Town policies. 

While by-laws are not legally enforceable, they serve as a guide for conducting meetings. 

Committees may outline rules for public participation, such as time limits for comments, 

processes for making motions and voting, meeting agendas, tie votes, setting agenda items, 

addressing conflicts of interest, amending by-laws, meeting frequency, and attendance provisions 

for committee members to name a few examples.  

Executive Session 

Executive sessions are governed exclusively by the Freedom of Access Act (FOAA). 

Committees cannot alter the requirements for holding executive sessions. For complaints against 

committee members, FOAA authorizes only the Select Board, as the appointing authority, to 

hold an executive session to discuss the appointment, duties, or discipline of officials they 

appoint, as outlined in 1 M.R.S.A. §405(6). Committees cannot use executive sessions to 

circumvent FOAA requirements such as discussing potential conflicts of interest, as such matters 

must be disclosed publicly. Committees rarely require executive sessions, and any proposed use 

should be consulted with the Town Manager before proceeding. 

Public Comment and Public Hearings 

Public comment is not legally required at committee meetings unless otherwise stipulated by the 

Town Charter or by ordinance. Committees may choose to exclude public comment, but 

meetings must remain open to the public. Committees that allow public comment may impose 

consistent time limits to ensure fairness. Excluding or limiting public comment should be applied 

uniformly to maintain impartiality. Public comment can provide valuable perspectives and 

encourage broader discussions. 

Public hearings are governed by multiple Maine laws required for municipal matters to provide 

information and gather public input. Meetings advertised as public hearings must allow the 

general public a right to speak. Notices for public hearings must include the date, time, location, 

subject matter, and any materials to be presented or instructions for accessing those materials. To 

ensure compliance with notification requirements and timelines of public hearings, committees 

should review applicable State law requirements. In some cases, committees may extend a public 

hearing to a later date, if necessary (e.g. meetings running for too long, emergency issues, intense 

disruptions, etc.), provided appropriate public notice is given of the later date. Typically, public 

12

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

Committee Handbook 

participation cannot be limited. However, the Chair may provide guidance to participants to 

facilitate the flow of the meeting and ensure everyone has an opportunity to speak. Committees 

cannot take official votes during a public hearing.  

Meeting Location 

Committees must meet in a Town building that is open to the public, encourages participation, 

and complies with ADA accessibility guidelines. Such buildings include the Town Hall and the 

Community Library. Meetings may not be held via email, in private homes, in private business 

spaces like restaurants, or other private locations, as this could discourage public attendance or 

appear secretive. Exceptions may include site walks, such as ones conducted by the Planning 

Board or other committees for purposes specific to the committees’ objectives. Such site walks 

held by a quorum are considered an open public meeting and require proper notification.  

Request for Meeting Room Availability 

The Committee Chair is responsible for reserving the meeting room by emailing the Town 

Manager with the requested date and time of the meeting. Availability is provided on a first-

come, first-served basis. In cases where the Select Board requires the meeting room, the 

committee’s meeting may be moved or rescheduled. The committee will be notified promptly, 

and the committee may move to another location if available or may reschedule their meeting. 

For use of the Community Library, the committee Chair must contact the appropriate personnel 

at the Library. 

Posting and Notification of Meetings 

The Town Manager maintains postings and notifications for all meetings. The Committee must 

notify the Town Manager via email of the meeting’s date, time, location, at least nine days in 

advance to allow for proper posting and website updates. Agendas should outline anticipated 

discussion topics and may be submitted for web posting. To ensure web posting of an agenda, 

Committees must submit to the town Manager at least three days prior to the meeting. Any 

changes to a posted agenda must be promptly communicated to the Town Manager for reposting. 

Meetings should adhere to posted agendas, and new substantiative business should be deferred to 

the next scheduled meeting. 

Audio /Video Equipment Use 

The Town provides equipment for streaming and recording public meetings. Committees may 

assign a member to operate this equipment, provided they receive training from the Town 

Manager, and they agree to and sign acknowledgement of any applicable policies. Authorized 

users cannot modify passwords, remove devices from Town property, download unauthorized 

13

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

Committee Handbook 

software, access Town accounts on other unauthorized devices or grant access to others. 

Equipment is intended to enhance meeting transparency and public participation. Misuse of 

equipment may result in the removal of the responsible committee member. To request access 

and training, email the Town Manager. 

Remote Meetings Policy 

Committees may adopt a remote participation policy in compliance with MRS Title 1 §403-B. 

Remote participation is utilized when a committee member cannot attend in person and after the 

committee adopts a policy. To adopt a policy, the committee must hold a public hearing with 

proper notice, including date, time, location, participation details and access to the proposed 

policy. After the hearing, the committee may vote to adopt the policy during a regular open 

meeting.  

When holding a meeting with any one or more members participating remotely, the committee 

must comply with State Statute requirements. This includes first adopting a remote participation 

policy, providing the public meaningful opportunity to participate remotely, providing notice of 

the proceeding in advance that includes the means by which members of the public may access 

the proceeding using remote methods, as well as the location of the meeting for in person 

attendance, and all documents and other materials considered by the public body are made 

available electronically and otherwise to the public. Additionally, all votes taken during the 

public proceeding using remote methods must be taken by roll call vote that can be seen and 

heard. 

Upon giving notice of a meeting, The Committee shall notify the Town Manager that a meeting 

will be held via remote participation and who of the committee is attending remotely and provide 

all documents and materials that will be considered by the committee at the meeting. The Town 

Manager will schedule a zoom meeting on the Towns zoom account and send the invite link to 

the Chair and any members who will be participating remotely. The zoom link will be provided 

on the Towns website under the committee’s page along with all documents and materials for the 

public to access, and public notices will include information about remote participation methods. 

It is the responsibility of the committee to request training and facilitate the zoom proceeding. 

Contact the Town Manager for training and information.  

COMMUNICATIONS & PUBLICATIONS 

Effective communication is a cornerstone of local government, fostering transparency, trust, and 

engagement between the Town and its residents. Publications and public messaging serve as 

essential tools for keeping the community informed about the work of municipal committees, 

upcoming initiatives, and opportunities for public involvement. 

14

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

Committee Handbook 

For committees, clear and consistent publications ensure that their work is accessible and 

understood by the public, helping to build support and collaboration on key projects. 

Publications, whether through digital platforms or traditional means, provide a reliable way to 

share updates, educate residents, and celebrate the progress made on behalf of the Town. 

Town Website Updates 

The Town Manager is responsible for maintaining the Town of Lyman’s website. Each 

committee has a dedicated page on the website, which includes basic information about the 

committee, such as meeting minutes and videos, agendas, a list of current members, and updates 

or events generated by the committee. Committees should regularly review their page to ensure 

that all information is accurate and up to date. These pages provide an opportunity to share news 

and resources relevant to the committee's work. Any updates or content that a committee wishes 

to post on their webpage must be submitted to the Town Manager for approval. Content deemed 

inappropriate or unrelated to the committee’s objectives may be denied. Committees, including 

all individual members, are not permitted to create or manage independent websites pages on 

behalf of the committee or the Town. 

Social Media Policy 

The Town Manager also oversees all social media platforms for the Town of Lyman, including 

Facebook, Instagram, Mailchimp, and others. These platforms serve as official channels for 

Town communications, providing notifications about meetings, events, resources, and special 

updates. When a committee requests meeting room availability, the Town Manager will post 

meeting notifications on the website and all applicable media platforms. Committees wishing to 

share additional information or event notices must submit their requests to the Town Manager for 

approval. Approved content will be disseminated through platforms such as Facebook, 

Instagram, Mailchimp email subscriptions, the Town website, etc. Committees, including all 

individual members, are not permitted to create or manage independent social media pages on 

behalf of the committee or the Town. 

Committee members must conduct themselves responsibly on social media platforms. They are 

expected to refrain from any defamatory, offensive, libelous, or slanderous conduct that could 

negatively impact Town officials or volunteers in the performance of their duties.  

All public officials and individuals conducting business on behalf of the Town, such as 

committees, must be aware that discussions, posts, or other communications related to Town 

business on private social media accounts may fall under the scope of the Freedom of Access Act

(FOAA) or other Right to Know laws. Courts have ruled in some cases that such communications

relative to official governmental matters are considered public records. This may not always be 

the case, however, and to avoid conflicts and potential legal issues it’s best practice to refrain 

from using personal social media accounts for Town-related business; direct all official 

communications and discussions to approved Town platforms; and ensure transparency and 

compliance by following the Town’s Social Media and Communications Policy and FOAA 

requirements. 

15

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

Committee Handbook 

Acceptable Use Policy 

The town's acceptable use policy governs the use of town-owned equipment, devices, email 

accounts, and other media. Any committee or committee member with access to such resources 

must comply with this policy, as outlined in Appendix I. 

MMA and legal correspondence 

The Town of Lyman also benefits from membership with the Maine Municipal Association 

(MMA), which provides training, manuals, informational packets, legal advisement, and other 

services. To streamline legal inquiries and avoid redundancy, any request for legal services 

through MMA or Town Council must be approved and coordinated by the Town Manager unless 

a designated staff liaison has been assigned to the committee. 

MAINE FREEDOM OF ACCESS ACT 

The Maine Freedom of Access Act (FOAA) promotes government transparency by ensuring 

public access to meetings and records of governmental bodies. Committees must adhere to 

FOAA requirements, which stipulate that meetings are open to the public with proper advance 

notice. Committee decisions and deliberations must occur in public unless explicitly exempted 

by law. While FOAA does not prohibit all communications between individual board members 

outside public meetings, such communications must not undermine the law's intent. 

Maine laws also outline specific notification requirements depending on the nature of the public 

preceding. For example, proceedings relative to subdivision reviews, charter amendments, 

ordinance amendments, comprehensive growth plans, to name a few. Depending on the 

committee’s objectives, it is essential to review relevant State requirements for public 

proceedings.  

FOAA grants the public access to all public records and documents, including any written 

materials generated by a committee. These records are considered the property of the Town and 

must be retained and managed appropriately. Committees are responsible for maintaining written 

communications, drafts, meeting minutes, notes, and other related documents, which must be 

routinely submitted to Town Hall for proper retention. Timely submission ensures compliance 

with FOAA and prevents delays in responding to public records requests. Members are 

encouraged to familiarize themselves with FOAA to maintain transparency and accountability in 

their work 

Maine provides online resources regarding FOAA including frequently asked questions. Visit 

www.Maine.gov or visit www.maine.gov/foaa/faq/index.shtml 

16

DRAFT

http://www.maine.gov/
http://www.maine.gov/foaa/faq/index.shtml


Town of Lyman 

Committee Handbook 

Email, Texting, Telephone, and Other Electronic Communications 

Committee members must exercise caution when using email, texting, telephone calls, or other 

electronic communication methods to discuss committee matters. Under FOAA, communications 

related to committee or Town business is considered public record. To prevent violations, 

members should avoid substantiative discussions or deliberations outside of properly noticed 

public meetings. Electronic communications should focus on logistical matters, such as 

scheduling or distributing agendas. Substantiative discussions or deliberations involving a 

quorum or more members conducted via email, telephone, or other electronic means, or in 

person outside of a properly noticed meeting violate Maine’s Open Meeting Laws and FOAA. 

All communications, whether written or electronic, are treated as public records if they pertain to 

public or governmental business, even if conducted through personal devices or accounts. 

Members should be aware that emails and attachments related to committee work are subject to 

public inspection. To avoid inadvertent violations, electronic communications must remain non-

substantiative and should not be used to deliberate on governmental business or applications or 

decisions that require review. For instance, emails notifying members of a meeting or agenda 

posting are permissible, but any response that initiates a discussion is not. 

When sharing information such as agenda items or scheduling updates, members should ensure 

communications are one-way and avoid group replies. Committee invitations to non-board-

related events or personal matters are generally non-substantiative but should still be handled 

cautiously to maintain compliance with FOAA. Members must also avoid group replies to emails 

that could unintentionally lead to quorum discussions in violation of the law. 

Public Records, Record Keeping, and Reporting 

All documents, communications, and materials created or received by committees in the course 

of their work are public records and must be managed under FOAA guidelines. This includes 

meeting minutes, reports, correspondence, and electronic communications. Committees must 

ensure records are accurate, complete, and submitted to the Town Hall—the Town Manager’s 

Office—on a routine basis. This practice prevents delays in fulfilling public records requests and 

ensures compliance with FOAA requirements. 

Committees may also generate reports to update the Select Board on progress or objectives. The 

Select Board can request specific reports to be reviewed during their meetings. Committees can 

submit reports regularly—monthly, bi-monthly, or quarterly—or as necessary. To be placed on 

the Select Board agenda, committees must email the Town Manager with all supporting 

documentation by 12 p.m. on the Thursday preceding the next scheduled meeting. Late 

submissions will be deferred to the following agenda. The Select Board Chair and Vice Chair 

reserve the right to approve or deny agenda items. 

By adhering to these guidelines, committees maintain transparency, fulfill their public 

obligations, and foster trust within the community 

17

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

Committee Handbook 

BUDGETS & FINANCIAL OVERSIGHT 

Budgets are prepared for the fiscal year, which runs from July 1 through June 30, with the year 

of June marking the fiscal year (e.g., FY2024 ends on June 30, 2024). Committees may 

participate in the budgeting process by submitting budget requests for consideration during the 

upcoming fiscal year. The Town Manager or Finance Department will solicit input annually from 

committees a budget worksheet. Committees must provide detailed proposals outlining their 

requests, including the purpose, amount, supporting documentation such as quotes or expense 

estimates, and a clear plan for how the funds will be used. These requests should align with the 

Town’s strategic goals and serve its best interests. 

Funding allocations are approved by Lyman voters during Town Meeting. Spending requests of 

the allocated funds must be authorized by the Town Manager or Select Board. Committees with 

financial allocations must adhere to the Town’s fiscal policies, tracking expenditures and 

regularly reviewing financial activities to ensure compliance with legal requirements and Town 

objectives. 

Committees can participate in collecting donations or promoting fundraising for special 

programs or initiatives. Funds that are raised through fundraising events or donations are 

deposited into the general fund unless the Select Board specifically approves their placement into 

an expendable account for designated purposes. Committees must request an expendable account 

that specifies the purpose and procedures on which the funds may be utilized if they wish to 

collect donations to fund a special purpose.  

PURCHASING POLICY 

All purchases on behalf of the Town must comply with the Town’s purchasing policy, and Town 

Charter requirements under section 7.7 which ensure procurement is fair, competitive, and cost-

effective. Committees must seek prior approval for purchases exceeding established thresholds, 

and some expenses may require a formal bid or proposal process. Receipts and invoices must be 

submitted promptly to the Finance Department with a signed purchase order form for processing. 

Committees are encouraged to consult the Town Manager or Finance Department for guidance to 

avoid unauthorized expenditure. 

Committees are not authorized to independently approve spending or hire vendors, even for 

projects within allocated budgets. Spending recommendations must be presented to the Town 

Manager or Select Board with a detailed plan, including cost estimates, implementation 

strategies, required services, and other relevant information. The Select Board may approve, 

modify, or deny the proposal. All spending and project planning should prioritize fiscal 

responsibility and the Town’s best interests. 

18

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

Committee Handbook 

Checks must be approved by the Select Board by warrant. The Select Board meets twice a month 

and approves the Accounts Payable Warrant at each meeting. Invoices and receipts awaiting 

approval must be submitted to the Finance Department no later than 3 p.m Wednesday prior to a 

Select Board meeting. Late submissions will be deferred to the next Select Board meeting.  

RECEIPT, FUNDS, GRANTS, DONATIONS, & GIFTS 

Committees handling funds, grants, donations, or gifts must follow Town policies and adhere to 

state and federal regulations. Any funds collected or received must be promptly deposited with 

the Town Treasurer and accurately recorded. Donations or gifts for committee use require 

approval and acknowledgment by the Town Manager. 

Grant applications must be pre-authorized by the Town Manager and aligned with the Town’s 

priorities. Committees pursuing grants must prepare strategic plans detailing how funds will be 

utilized, including project goals, bid processes (if required), necessary permits or approvals, and 

steps to ensure project success. Committees are responsible for monitoring grant-funded 

activities to comply with the terms of the grant. 

ANNUAL TOWN REPORT 

The Annual Town Report serves as a comprehensive record of municipal activities and 

accomplishments from the previous fiscal year and is presented prior to Town Meeting. 

Committees are encouraged to contribute by providing a written summary of their work during 

that fiscal year. These summaries should emphasize key initiatives, achievements, and 

contributions to the Town, as well as outline goals and objectives for the coming year. 

To ensure inclusion in the Annual Town Report, submissions must be delivered to the Town 

Manager’s office no later than April 1 each year. The report focuses on the prior fiscal year, 

excluding activities or accomplishments from the current fiscal year. This timing is largely due to 

the fact that the report's preparation and information gathering occur mid-way through the 

current fiscal year, with the final report presented before the fiscal year concludes. The Annual 

Town Report serves as an important resource for engaging the public and enhancing 

understanding of the committee’s contributions and impact within the community. 

USE OF TOWN EQUIPMENT & FACILITIES 

Committees may use Town equipment and facilities to support their activities, provided such use 

is pre-approved by the Town Manager, complies with Town policies, and does not disrupt other 

municipal operations. Equipment and facilities must be used responsibly and exclusively for 

19

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

Committee Handbook 

official purposes. Any damage, loss, or misuse of Town property must be reported immediately 

to the Town Manager. 

Committees are responsible for coordinating with the Town Manager to reserve facilities or 

equipment, ensuring availability and adherence to usage guidelines. Personal or unauthorized use 

of Town property is strictly prohibited. Committees must leave facilities in a clean and orderly 

condition after use, demonstrating respect for shared resources and maintaining their availability 

for others. 

AMENDMENT 

The Town of Lyman Select Board reserves the right to amend this handbook at any time for any 

reason by a majority vote of the Select Board.  

Town of Lyman Committee Handbook approved and signed by a majority of the Town of Lyman 

Select Board on this ________ day of ____________________, 20__ 

________________________________ ______________________________ 

Jessica Picard, Chair  Victoria Gavel, Vice Chair 

________________________________ ______________________________ 

Amber Swett  David Alves 

________________________________ 

Joseph Wagner 

20

DRAFT



Appendix A   [SAMPLE] 

Town of Lyman 
Committee Name – Meeting Agenda 

Meeting Date – Meeting Time 
Meeting Location 

[Welcome statement] 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

ROLL CALL 

ITEM #1 APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

a. Meeting Minutes – Date

ITEM #2 UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

a.
b.
c.

ITEM #3 NEW BUSINESS 

a.
b.
c.

ITEM #4 PUBLIC COMMENT 

a. The committee welcomes public comment and questions about the Committee
matters and any items on the agenda. Questions are not always answered
immediately, and the Committee may agree to answer questions by the next
regularly scheduled meeting or whenever possible. We ask that comments are kept
brief and to the point (no more than five (5) minutes and one time per meeting,
except when public comment is solicited by the Committee on specific agenda
items). We ask that the public in attendance is respectful. Please use the podium to
address the committee and state your name.

ADJOURN 

21

DRAFT



Appendix B  [SAMPLE] 

Town of Lyman 
Committee Name – Meeting Minutes 

Meeting Date – Meeting Time 
Meeting Location 

Members present: 

Members absent:  

Meeting Discussion: 

List Agenda Items 

Item # 1 _______ 

o Summary of agenda item discussion

o Note any motions with members calling for motion, member seconding the motion
and the vote

Motion to ______________________ Made by_________________

Seconded by ___________________

Vote ___________________________

Item # 2 _______ 

o Summary of agenda item discussion

o Note any motions with members calling for motion, member seconding the motion
and the vote

Motion to ______________________ Made by_________________

Seconded by ___________________

Vote ___________________________

22

DRAFT



[SAMPLE] 

Town of Lyman 
Committee Name – Meeting Minutes 

Meeting Date – Meeting Time 
Meeting Location 

Item # 3 _______ 

o Summary of agenda item discussion

o Note any motions with members calling for motion, member seconding the motion
and the vote

Motion to ______________________ Made by_________________

Seconded by ___________________

Vote ___________________________

Adjournment 

Motion to adjourn made by ______________ 

Seconded by __________________________ 

Vote __________________________________ 

Signed by: 

______________________________________ _____________________________________ 
Committee Member  Committee Member 

______________________________________ _____________________________________ 
Committee Member  Committee Member 

______________________________________ 
Committee Member 

23

DRAFT



Appendix C         [SAMPLE] 

Town of Lyman 

By-laws of ______________________ Committee 

Article I. Mission Statement 

[Committee mission statement] 

Article II. Committee Membership and Officers 

Section 1. Membership 

Members must qualify as residents and registered voters of the Town of Lyman in accordance with 
the Municipal Charter. Members are appointed by the Select Board. Members will serve a term for 
three years, ending on June 30th and terms shall be staggered.  

Section 2. Appointments and Vacancies 

Appointments to the membership of the Committee shall be made and by the Select Board. 
Vacancies caused by a member resignation or expiration of a term of office shall be filled in the 
same manner 

Committee resignations shall be submitted to the Chair of the Committee and Town Manager’s 
office for inclusion on the next Select Board’s agenda, at which time the resignation will be 
accepted and the position deemed vacant 

Section 3. Officers 

The officers of the Committee shall be elected from the regular voting membership annually at the 
beginning of the fiscal year in July. Officers shall include the following positions and duties: 

o Chair – The chair shall preside at all meetings of the Committee at which he or she is
present and direct the work of the Committee

o Vice Chair – The Vice Chair shall act for the Chair in his or her absence.

o Correspondence Secretary – The Secretary shall keep accurate records of
proceedings, including attendance, and shall notify each member of upcoming
meetings and send meeting updates and web postings to the Town Managers office.

Article III. Meetings 

Section 1. Meetings 

Meetings will be held regularly at a minimum of once per month. Special meetings of the 
Committee may be called by the Chair or by a majority vote of the membership. Meeting schedules 
shall be provided to the Town Managers office.  

24

DRAFT



The meeting held in October of each year shall be for the approval of budget recommendations for 
the upcoming fiscal year, preparation of the Committee’s annual summary for the Town Report, and 
for other business that needs to come before such meeting.  

All meetings must be held in a Town building, meeting ADA requirements and are open to the 
public.  

Section 2. Attendance 

Members who are unable to attend a meeting of the Committee shall notify the Chair, Vice Chair, or 
Secretary prior to the meeting. Members shall make every effort to attend all meetings and perform 
the duties assigned by the Chair.  

Members absent from three consecutive regular scheduled meetings or from 25% of all meetings 
held in a six-month period will be subject to removal by the Select Board. The Committee Chair or 
Vice Chair shall notify the Town Manager’s office for inclusion on the next Select Board’s agenda at 
which the Select Board shall consider grounds for removal.  

Section 3. Quorum 

A majority of the regular members of the Committee shall constitute a quorum. A majority of those 
present and voting, if a quorum, shall be sufficient to conduct the business of the Committee.  

Article IV. Standards of Conduct 

___________Committee members are representatives of the Town of Lyman. Members should 
conduct themselves so as to maintain public confidence in their local government and in the 
performance of the public trust. They should treat with respect and civility the rights of all fellow 
members, attendees, and Staff regardless of any differences of opinion. Professional respect does 
not preclude differences of opinion but requires respect for those differences and the people who 
express them. Everyone should strive for civil discourse on all matters. Committee members are 
expected to act in a professional manner at meetings even when diverse ideas and opinions are 
presented.  

All Committee members are expected to uphold and abide by the Town’s Non-Discrimination and 
Harassment policies, which requires that: 

o Employees, Committee members, elected officials, and volunteers shall refrain from
any form of workplace abuse, bullying, harassment, discrimination, or violence. This
includes refraining from unwelcome, offensive, or abusive comments or conduct, or
discriminatory treatment, related to an individual’s race, religion, age, sex, physical or
mental disability, sexual orientation, including gender identity and expression, national
origin, genetic predisposition, color, political affiliation, whistleblower activity, or any
other status protected by law.

o Employees, Committee members, elected officials, and volunteers shall cooperate fully
in any investigation of a workplace abuse, harassment, discrimination, or violence
complaint.

o Failure to adhere to these standards is a violation of law and Town policy and may result
in removal from the Committee.

25

DRAFT



Article V. Adoption of By-laws and Amendments 

By-laws must be adopted and approved by the Select Board annually in accordance with the 
Municipal Charter. Each year in July, the Committee will review the by-laws for changes as needed 
and submit the by-laws to the Town Managers office for inclusion on the next Select Boards agenda 
for approval. Amendments to the by-laws must be adopted by a majority vote of the Committee and 
notice of the proposed changes shall be circulated to all members prior to the meeting when they 
will be voted on.  If no amendments are considered, then the Committee shall vote to pass the by-
laws, as written with no changes, to the Select Board for annual review and approval. These by-laws 
are effective upon the approval by a majority vote of the Town of Lyman Select Board.  

By-laws accepted and approved by the ______ Committee on _____________date, by vote of_____ 

By-laws approved by the Select Board on __________ date, by which shall be the effective date of 
these by-laws.  

26

DRAFT



Appendix D 
REMOTE PARTICIPATION POLICY 

TOWN OF LYMAN 
_____________________ COMMITTEE 

Pursuant to 1 M.R.S. § 403-B, and after public notice and hearing, the above-named 
body  adopts the following policy to govern the participation, via remote methods, of 
members of the _____________________ COMMITTEE and the public in the public 
proceedings or meetings of the _____________________ COMMITTEE. 

Members of the _____________________ COMMITTEE are expected to be physically 
present for meetings except when not practicable, such as in the case of an 
emergency or urgent issue that requires the _____________________ COMMITTEE to 
meet via remote methods, or an illness or temporary absence of a member that 
causes significant difficulty traveling to the meeting location or when 
traveling/working out of state. All _____________________ COMMITTEE meetings will 
be accessible by Zoom or other remote platform when possible. A member who is 
unable to attend a meeting in person will notify the chair or presiding officer of the 
_____________________ COMMITTEE as far in advance as possible. 

Remote methods of participation may include telephonic or video technology 
allowing simultaneous reception of information and may include other means 
necessary to accommodate disabled persons. Remote participation will not be by 
text-only means such as e-mail, text messages, or chat functions. 

The public will be provided a meaningful opportunity to attend via remote methods 
when any member of the _____________________ COMMITTEE participates via remote 
methods, if practicable. If public input is allowed or required at             the meeting, an 
effective means of communication between the _____________________ COMMITTEE 
and the public will also be provided, if practicable.  The Committee chairperson may 
instruct the moderator to mute members of the public who are disruptive to the 
proceedings. The public will also be provided with an opportunity to attend the 
meeting in person unless there is an emergency or urgent issue that requires the 
entire _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  C O M M I T T E E  to meet using remote methods. 

Notice of all meetings will be provided in accordance with 1 M.R.S. § 406 and any 
applicable charter, ordinance, policy, or bylaw. When the public may attend via 
remote methods, notice will include how the public may access the meeting 
remotely and will provide a method for disabled persons to request necessary 
accommodation to access the meeting. Notice will also identify a location where 
the public may attend the meeting in person. The _____________________ 

27

DRAFT



COMMITTEE will not restrict public attendance to remote a c c e s s  except in the 
case of an emergency or urgent issue that requires the _____________________ 
COMMITTEE to meet using remote methods of attendance. 

The _____________________ COMMITTEE will make all documents and materials to 
be considered by the _____________________ COMMITTEE available, electronically 
or otherwise, when practicable, to the public who attend remotely to the same 
extent customarily available to the public who attend in person, provided no 
additional costs are incurred by the Town of Lyman 

Remote Participation Policy of the _____________________ COMMITTEE 

Adopted on this _____day of ______________, 20__ 

Amended:______________ 

___________________________ __________________________ 

Committee Member Committee Member

_______________________________ _______________________________ 

Committee Member Committee Member

______________________________ _______________________________ 
Committee Member Committee Member

28

DRAFT



Appendix E 

Committee Budget Request Worksheet 

Committees are encouraged to provide a summary of goals as well as any proposed budget 
planning for the upcoming fiscal year. If funding is being requested to support the committees’ 
goals, please use the proposed worksheet to outline cost proposals. Committees may also use the 
worksheet for creating proposed goals and initiatives. Proposed budgets must be submitted with 
goals outlined to the Town Manager’s office by the end of October each year.  

Summary of upcoming goals for the Fiscal Year 

____________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________ 

29

DRAFT



Committee Budget Request Worksheet 
Proposed Budget 

Type of Expense 
(e.g., postage, printing, 

services, materials, specific 
items, etc.) 

Reason for Expense 
(e.g., info mailing for residents, hire consulting 

services, beatification project, etc.) 

Estimated Expense 
(List dollar amount, include 

quotes and estimates if 
available) 

30

DRAFT



Appendix F 

Worksheet for creating Goals & Initiatives 

Committees are encouraged to discuss as a group the development of new goals and initiatives. 
This worksheet can be useful in exploring all aspects and impacts of a new goal or initiative.  

1. What is the initiative or goal being proposed

2. Is this goal relative to the Committees’ objectives?

3. Does this address an identified goal of the Town?

4. Is there a cost associated with this goal/initiative? If so, how much? Is there future

considerations to be aware of such as maintenance, upkeep, etc? Who will fund this? 

5. Who will benefit from this goal/initiative?

6. Who will manage the goal/initiative?

7. Who will support the goal/initiative?

8. Who will perform the tasks?

9. Where will the goal/initiative take place? Is this a one-time event or an on-going event?

10. Why is this goal/initiative important to the Committee?

11. Why is this goal/initiative important to the Town?

12. How will you encourage public participation and engagement?

13. Are there other co-collaborators that can be involved to create a broader benefit?

14. Where to see this goal/initiative in 6 months? In 1 year? In 3 years?

15. How will this goal/initiative be sustainable?

31

DRAFT



Appendix G 

32

DRAFT



33

DRAFT



Appendix H 

34

DRAFT



35

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

11 South Waterboro Rd 

Lyman, ME 04002 Acceptable Use Agreement 

June, 2023 Page 1 of 10 

Town of Lyman 

Acceptable Use Agreement 

Effective cyber security is a shared responsibility, and a team effort involving the participation and support of all 

employees, including volunteer members of boards, committees and/or commissions in the Town of Lyman. It is 

everyone’s responsibility to know, understand and adhere to the guidelines listed in this agreement.  

Based on best practices and regulations, we have endeavored to create safe cyber practices which are clear, concise, 

and easy to understand. If you have any questions about this agreement, please contact The Select Board’s Office at 

selectboard@lyman-me.gov. 

Thank you in advance for your support as we do our best to maintain a secure environment and fulfill our obligations 

and our mission. 

Acceptable Use Agreement 

• I certify that I have read and fully understand this Acceptable Use Agreement. I understand and acknowledge

my obligations and responsibilities.

• I understand that Lyman reserves the right to monitor system activity and usage. My signature on this

document means I have consented to this monitoring.

• I agree that I will not purposely engage in activity that may: harass, threaten or abuse others; take actions

that will impede or reduce the performance of Information Resources; deprive an authorized Lyman user

access to a Lyman resource; obtain extra resources beyond those allocated; or in any way circumvent Lyman

security measures.

• I further understand that violation of these policies is subject to disciplinary action up to and including

termination. Additionally, individuals may be subject to civil liability and criminal prosecution.

Acknowledged & Agreed to by: 

User Signature Date 

Printed Name 

Appendix I

36

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

11 South Waterboro Rd 

Lyman, ME 04002 Acceptable Use Agreement 

June, 2023 Page 2 of 10 

Distribution 

• Employees of the Town of Lyman and members of boards, committees and/or commissions, hereinafter

known as employees/members, that have access to any Town owned devices, emails, or office

equipment/media will receive a copy of the Acceptable Use Agreement upon hire/appointment and annually

thereafter.

• Failure to comply with initial and/or annual training requirements and review of this agreement within a

reasonable time upon request for review will result in temporary revocation of any and all access to Town-

owned devices, emails, or media until all compliance requirements are met.

Definition 

• IT Support is defined as the current IT Remote Managed Services Contractor under contract with the Town of

Lyman.

o To contact IT Support, Lyman uses the support email address provided to document a support

ticket. For emergencies, the Select Board’s Office shall be contacted as well as IT Support.

• Select Board’s Office is defined as the current department head working with and under the supervision of

the Select Board.

Access Control 

Access to Lyman information will be limited to those persons who are reasonably required to know such information 

in order to accomplish our legitimate business purposes or as is necessary for compliance with local, state and federal 

regulations. 

Data Classification 

• Lyman data classifications include Protected and Confidential.

o Protected information is defined as information that requires the highest level of protection; which

if modified or disclosed would have legal, regulatory, and financial or negative public perception

impact.

o Confidential information is defined as information that is restricted to Lyman employees/members,

auditors, regulators, vendors, and affiliates on a “need-to-know” basis.

• For details regarding Lyman data classifications, and the security requirements around each classification,

contact The Select Board’s Office at selectboard@lyman-me.gov.

Authentication 

Password Requirements 

• Passwords must be at least 12 characters long and be comprised of a minimum of 3 out of the following 4

types of characters: numbers, lower-case letters, upper-case letters, and special characters (i.e., #, &, *, etc.).

• The password must not include the user’s first or last name and should not contain dictionary words or

names like those of children, pet, or favorite hobby.

37

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

11 South Waterboro Rd 

Lyman, ME 04002 Acceptable Use Agreement 

June, 2023 Page 3 of 10 

• Passwords must be changed at least every 180 days.

• Users are not permitted to reuse any of their last 10 passwords when selecting a new password.

• Accounts will be locked out (disabled) after 5 consecutive failed log-on attempts.

o Network accounts will remain locked out for 30 minutes.

o If you need your account reenabled during the lockout period, contact the Select Board’s Office, or

IT Support.

o We understand getting locked out of your account is inconvenient and we will attempt to resolve

the issue as quickly as is reasonably possible.

Password Protection 

• Every user is responsible for any actions performed using their network or application account. Therefore, it

is critical that users protect their passwords by not storing them in a text file on their computer in an

unencrypted form.

• Passwords are to be kept in a secure location and not to be left open to public areas or as visible by others

• Passwords must never be shared with anyone, including IT staff.

• Work passwords must never be used for personal accounts such as Gmail, Amazon, an ISP e-mail account,

etc. These passwords can be easily intercepted and can result in compromising Lyman’s network security.

• Users must report all password compromises or attempted compromises to the IT Support.

• Passwords must be changed by the user immediately if there is any suspicion of compromise and the issue

must be reported to IT Support as soon as the user is able to.

Email 

Email use is subject to the following: 

• Lyman owns the email system and the information transmitted and stored within it. Users will have no

expectations of privacy.

• Users will use the Lyman’s approved email encryption solution when sending any email (with or without

attachments) which contains Protected or Confidential data.

• The following activities are prohibited:

o Sending email that can be construed as intimidating, harassing, libelous, slanderous, or defamatory

of another person, business, or entity.

o Using email for purposes of political lobbying or campaigning.

o Violating copyright laws by inappropriately distributing protected works.

38

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

11 South Waterboro Rd 

Lyman, ME 04002 Acceptable Use Agreement 

June, 2023 Page 4 of 10 

o Posing as anyone other than oneself when sending or receiving email, except when authorized to

send messages for another when serving in an administrative support role.

• The following activities are prohibited because they impede the functioning of network communications and

the efficient operations of electronic mail systems:

o Sending or forwarding chain letters.

o Sending unsolicited messages to large groups except as required to conduct Lyman business.

o Sending excessively large messages.

o Sending or forwarding email that is likely to contain computer viruses.

• Individuals must not send, forward or receive protected or confidential information through non-Lyman

email accounts. Examples of non-Lyman email accounts include, but are not limited to, Gmail, Yahoo mail,

and email provided by other Internet Service Providers (ISP).

• Individuals must not access non-Lyman email accounts from Lyman provided equipment.

• Individuals must not send, forward, receive or store protected or confidential information utilizing non-

Lyman approved devices. Examples of such devices include, but are not limited to, home computers and

laptops, smartphones, tablets, etc.

• E-mail messages and Internet sites accessed are not private but are property of Lyman. Lyman may review e-

mail messages and Internet sites accessed by a user.

• Think twice before you open attachments or click links in email.

o If you don't know the sender, delete the email; if you do know the sender but weren't expecting an

attachment, double check using an alternate method of contact that they actually sent the email.

o If your contact didn't send you the attachment, delete the message. If his or her computer is

infected with malicious code, it may automatically send you emails (without their knowledge) with

links or attachments in an attempt to infect your computer as well.

Internet Use 

In addition to being an excellent resource for information and a revolutionary way to communicate with the world, 

the Internet is a rapidly changing and volatile place which can introduce threats to Lyman and its ability to achieve 

our mission. These policies are intended to provide guidance and protection, while still making available this useful 

business tool. The following rules apply when using the Internet: 

All users must not: 

• Knowingly visit Internet sites that contain obscene, hateful or other materials that could be construed as

offensive; send or receive any material, whether by email, voice mail, memoranda or oral conversation, that is

obscene, defamatory, libelous, slanderous, harassing, intimidating, offensive, discriminatory, or which is

intended to annoy, harass, or intimidate another person, business, or entity. Intentional access to such sites,

39

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

11 South Waterboro Rd 

Lyman, ME 04002 Acceptable Use Agreement 

June, 2023 Page 5 of 10 

whether or not blocked by Lyman’s content filtering system, is prohibited, and subject to disciplinary action, 

including termination. 

• Solicit non-Lyman business for personal gain or profit.

• Use the Internet or email for any illegal purpose.

• Use the Internet or email for offensive or vulgar messages such as messages that contain sexual or racial

comments or for any messages that do not conform to Lyman’s policies against harassment and

discrimination.

• Download or install any software or electronic files without the prior approval of the IT Support.

• Access the Internet via any means other than an approved connection provided for that purpose.

• Change any security settings in their Internet browser unless under the direction of the IT Support.

• Upload, download, or otherwise transmit commercial software or any copyrighted materials belonging to

parties outside of Lyman, or Lyman itself.

• Download or stream images, podcasts, music files, videos, games, etc. unless there is a business-related use

for the material.

• Intentionally interfere with the normal operation of the network, including the propagation of computer

viruses and sustained high volume network traffic, which substantially hinders others in their use of the

network.

Social Media 

Social media, such as Facebook, Twitter, and blogs, is largely a personal communication medium. Even LinkedIn, as 

well as other “professional” social media sites, are used by individuals in their personal capacity. If Lyman elects to 

participate in social media, any Lyman communications will be subject to review and approval by The Select Board’s 

Office.  

Personal use of such media needs to be conducted in compliance with the following: 

• Under no circumstances will Protected or Confidential Information be posted on social media sites.

• The personal use of Facebook, Twitter or social networking web sites must not interfere with working time.

Personal use of social networking web sites from Lyman provided equipment is prohibited.

• Any identification of the author, including usernames, pictures/logos, or “profile” web pages, must not use

logos, trademarks, or other intellectual property of Lyman, without approval of the Select Board.

40

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

11 South Waterboro Rd 

Lyman, ME 04002 Acceptable Use Agreement 

June, 2023 Page 6 of 10 

• Employees/members are responsible for their conduct on social media platforms and in matters of Lyman

shall refrain from defamatory, offensive, libelous, or slanderous conduct that adversely affects

employees/members job performance or duties, or customers, suppliers or people who work on behalf of

Lyman or conduct legitimate business for Lyman.

• Employees/members are prohibited from using their personal social media to post responses, questions, etc.

while acting in an official capacity. All posting requests shall be submitted to the Select Board’s office for

posting from Town of Lyman social media accounts.

• Written messages are, or can become, public. Use common sense.

Messaging 

Lyman’s messaging systems are a communication tool designed to enhance productivity and facilitate internal 

communications in order to provide excellent customer service. Only messaging applications approved by the Select 

Board are permitted. Policies governing the acceptable use of email and the Internet apply to Messaging systems.   

• Employees have no reasonable expectation of privacy when using the company’s Messaging system. The

company reserves the right to monitor, access and disclose all employee Messaging communications.

• The Messaging system is intended for business use only.

• Employees will use professional and appropriate language in all messages.

Removable Media 

To minimize the risk of loss or exposure of sensitive information maintained by Lyman and to reduce the risk of 

acquiring malware infections on computers operated by Lyman, the following restrictions on removable media apply: 

• Authorized Lyman staff may only use Lyman removable media in their work computers.

• Lyman removable media may not be connected to or used in computers that are not owned or leased by

Lyman without explicit permission of Lyman’s Select Board.

• Media such as printers, copiers, scanners, etc. may not be connected to a Lyman remote or mobile device

unless such media is owned by Lyman and leased with explicit approval of the Select Board.

• Protected or Confidential information may only be stored on removable media when required in the

performance of your assigned duties.

• When Protected or Confidential information is stored on removable media, it must be encrypted.

41

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

11 South Waterboro Rd 

Lyman, ME 04002 Acceptable Use Agreement 

June, 2023 Page 7 of 10 

Mobile Devices 

This section applies to all users who have been granted permission to access Lyman’s internal information resources 

via the use of a mobile device (smartphone or tablet). 

Mobile Device Controls 

Smartphones and tablets are a great convenience and are a part of doing business. They also come with many risks 

including ease of theft, operation in unsecured environments, and easily intercepted wireless communications. 

In order to protect our valuable information; it is important that users of mobile devices follow these rules of use: 

• Only Lyman approved mobile devices may be used to access Lyman information resources.

• Mobile devices must never be shared with anyone and are intended only for the authorized user.

• The theft or loss of a mobile device must be reported to the IT Support immediately.

• Mobile devices require a powered-on password and will lock after 5 minutes of inactivity.

• Mobile devices will be configured to be wiped after 10 failed password attempts.

• Lyman data residing on mobile devices must be encrypted.

• Mobile devices must be physically secured at all times.

Laptops 

Laptops are a great convenience. They also come with many risks including ease of theft, operation in unsecured 

environments, and easily intercepted wireless communications. 

In order to protect our valuable information; laptop users must follow these rules of use: 

• Only Lyman approved laptops may be used to access Lyman information resources.

• Laptop devices must never be shared with anyone and are intended only for the authorized user.

• Laptops are subject to the same Lyman controls as workstations, including patch requirements, malware

protection, firewall rules, screen saver timeouts, etc.

• Laptops must be full disk encrypted.

• Laptops must be physically secured at all times.

42

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

11 South Waterboro Rd 

Lyman, ME 04002 Acceptable Use Agreement 

June, 2023 Page 8 of 10 

• The theft or loss of a laptop must be reported to the IT Support immediately.

• Protected and/or Confidential company data cannot be stored on laptops unless specifically authorized by

the Select Board’s Office.

Remote Access 

This section applies to all users who have been granted permission to access the Organization’s internal computing 

resources from a remote location. 

Remote Access Policy 

• Remote access to the Lyman network will be provided to users authorized by The Select Board.

• Any devices used for remote connectivity to the Lyman network must conform to Lyman remote access

standards.

• Termination of an authorized user’s Remote Access is handled through the standard employee termination

process upon employee termination or at management’s request.

Remote Access System 

Users must review this Acceptable Use Agreement and acknowledge they understand their requirements in respect to 

remote access. 

• Lyman information WILL NOT be stored on / saved to the remote workstation unless authorized by the

Select Board.

• Remote access connections must use the authorized Lyman remote access solution by VPN or authorized

remote desktop via provided Town device.

• Remote access connections require two factor authentication by VPN or 2-factor secure remote desktop

client.

• The remote workstation will:

o Be kept physically secure and not be used by anyone other than a Lyman workforce member.

o Have security controls in place:

▪ Antivirus Software installed and virus definition files updated.

▪ Desktop Firewall Software.

▪ Updated and current with operating system and application patches.

▪ No critical vulnerabilities or malware are present that could negatively affect the health of

the Lyman network.

• Remote sessions will be automatically disconnected after 5 minutes of inactivity.

43

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

11 South Waterboro Rd 

Lyman, ME 04002 Acceptable Use Agreement 

June, 2023 Page 9 of 10 

Physical Access 

This section applies to all facilities operated by Lyman and all employees/members and any other person who may 

come in physical contact with resources that affect Lyman’s information assets on Lyman’s premises. 

Physical Security is the process of protecting information and technology from physical threats. Physical access to 

information processing areas and their supporting infrastructure (communications, power, and environmental) is 

controlled to prevent, detect, and minimize the effects of unintended access to these areas (i.e., unauthorized 

information access or disruption of information processing itself). The business of Lyman requires that facilities have 

both publicly accessible areas as well as restricted areas. 

• When an individual authorized to access a controlled area is separated from Lyman or has a role change that

no longer authorizes access to that area, that person’s authorization will be removed from all applicable

access lists and immediately removed from controlled areas.

o When a user is separated from Lyman, any access tokens or keys will be collected, and the

necessary access control personnel will be notified.

• All individuals that enter any of Lyman’s secured areas must be verified as authorized to do so.

• Third parties must not be given access to the Data Center unless authorized by The Select Board’s Office.

• Protected and confidential data and/or information systems containing confidential or protected data must

be physically secured when not in use. Files must be stored in controlled areas or locked vaults and access is

limited to appropriate users based on job function.

• Individuals are required to notify a Manager if they notice improperly identified visitors.

• Desktops will be automatically disconnected after 5 minutes of inactivity.

• No users personal information or data should be stored on Lyman’s devices.

Incidental Use of Information Resources 

As a convenience to the user community, incidental use of Information Resources is permitted. Only brief and 

occasional use is considered to be incidental. The following restrictions on incidental use apply: 

• Incidental personal use of electronic mail, Internet access, fax machines, printers, copiers, and so on, is

restricted to approved users; it does not extend to family members or other acquaintances.

• Incidental use must not result in direct costs to Lyman.

• Incidental use must not interfere with the normal performance of a user’s work duties.

44

DRAFT



45

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

P a g e  1 | 7 

TOWN OF LYMAN 

Municipal Code of Ethics 

SECTION 1: STATEMENT OF POLICY 

The Town of Lyman is committed to the highest ethical standards and practices, protecting employees, 

partners, volunteers, elected and appointed officials, and the organization from unethical, illegal, or 

damaging actions and statements by individuals, either knowingly or unknowingly. When the Town of 

Lyman acts in an ethical manner, addresses issues proactively, and uses best business judgement and 

practices, it establishes a positive reputation and protects the interest of our citizens.  

The proper operation of the Town requires that all Town officials whether elected or appointed, be impartial, 

equitable, and responsive to the needs of the people and each other in the performance of their respective 

functions and duties; that proper conduct of Town officials will promote public confidence in the integrity 

of government and ensure a culture of transparency, openness, fairness, and equity; that public office not 

be used for personal or financial gain or advantage; that the structure of government be used properly in 

decision and policy making. In recognition of these goals, this Code of Ethics is hereby established for all 

Town officials of elected office, appointed members of boards and committees, volunteers, and employees. 

All ethical policies that are created outside of this code of ethics shall be null and void.  

SECTION 2: PURPOSE  

The purpose of this Code of Ethics is to establish ethical standards of conduct expected of all Town elected 

officials, appointed members of boards and committees, volunteers, and employees by setting forth those 

acts or actions deemed to be in conflict or incompatible, or to create the appearance of impropriety, with 

the best interests of the Town of Lyman.  

SECTION 3: RESPONSIBILITY OF PROPER CONDUCT AND COMMITTEMENT TO 

ETHICS 

The Town of Lyman elected officials, appointed members of boards and committees, volunteers and 

employees will treat everyone with respect, fairness, promote a team environment, and will consistently 

avoid the intent and appearance of unethical or compromising practices. For the purpose of this code of 

ethics, “Town official” shall mean any elected, appointed, volunteer, or employee of the Town that in their 

capacity serve a role in the functions or business operations of the municipality or provide any such services 

related to municipal affairs.  

a. Every Town official needs to apply effort in maintaining ethical standards.

b. Town officials shall treat each other with mutual respect and strive for a collaborative, team

environment that enhances fairness, impartiality, and is responsive to the needs of the

people they serve and each other in the performance of their duties.

Appendix J

46

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

P a g e  2 | 7 

c. Town officials must, at all times, disclose any potential conflict of interest that may arise

regarding their position or duties with the Town.

d. Town officials will support the Town to increase its citizens, public, and vendor

satisfaction by providing quality services.

e. Public office will not be used by any Town official for personal gain.

f. All Town officials will maintain a standard of conduct that will inspire public confidence

and fortify the integrity of the Towns’ government.

g. Decisions and policy making will be made within the proper channels of the Town

government structure, and will uphold federal, state, and local law.

The Town will not tolerate any wrongdoing or impropriety at any time. 

SECTION 4: TOWN MANAGER RESPONSIBILITY OF ADMINSTRATION 

The Town Manager shall perform their duties with professionalism, civility, respect, and with the duty of 

avoiding impropriety whenever possible. With respect to the administration of the day-to-day affairs of the 

Town, the Town Manager shall conduct his/her duties to the extent possible: 

a. Affirm the dignity and worth of the services rendered by local government and maintain a

constructive, creative, and practical attitude toward local municipal affairs and a responsibility as

a trusted public servant.

b. Conduct his/her official affairs in such a manner as to give a clear impression that they cannot be

improperly influenced in the performance of their duties.

c. Uphold and implement local policies adopted by the Select Board; and submit policy proposals to

the Select board.

d. Refrain from political activities, which undermine public confidence in the integrity of government.

e. Uphold the duty to continually improve his/her professional ability and to develop the competence

of associates in the use of management techniques.

f. Emphasize friendly and courteous service to the public and seek to improve the quality and image

of public service.

g. Handle all matters of personnel on the basis of merit so that fairness and impartiality govern

decisions pertaining to appointments, pay adjustments, promotions, and discipline. Concerns of

employee performance should only be made directly with the affected individuals through private

conversation.

h. Uphold all sections of this code of ethics as well as the International City/County Management

Association Code of Ethics.

SECTION 5: DISCLOSURE OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

No Town official shall, to the detriment of the Town, disclose confidential information concerning the 

property, government or affairs of the Town; nor shall he or she use such information for the advancement 

of their own financial, special, or private interests or the financial, special, or private interest of others. 

Information received and discussed during an executive session of any Town agency called pursuant to    

47

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

P a g e  3 | 7 

1 M.R.S.A § 405 et seq. shall be considered within the constraints of this section and shall not be disclosed 

to any third party unless permitted by an affirmative vote of such body. For the purpose of this section, the 

term “Confidential information” shall mean any information, oral or written, that comes to the attention of, 

or is available to a Town Official only because of their position with the Town and is not a matter of 

public record.  

SECTION 6: GIFTS AND FAVORS 

The conduct of public business shall be free of any influence arising from gifts, favors, donations, or special 

privileges. It is the obligation of all Town officials to refuse personal gifts, favors, donations, or special 

privileges in every instance where favor or special privilege would not have been extended but for the 

position of such Town official; where there exists a reasonable belief that the giver’s interests are likely to 

be affected by the actions of the Town official; or where the gift is or may reasonably be considered to be 

designed to influence the actions of the Town official.  

This does not prohibit the following: 

a. The acceptance of gifts or social courtesies related to a family relationship or friendship between

the Town official and the donor, which are not designated to influence the proper judgement or

action of the Town official in a matter within his/her authority.

b. Public, government-sponsored or informational events, generally accepted as a condition of office,

where refreshments are served or other sponsored gifts are provided, which are not designed to

influence the proper judgement or action of the Town official in a matter within his/her authority.

c. “De Minimis” Things of Value, which shall initially be defined as Things of Value that do not

exceed $25 in total value.

d. Gifts associated with holidays or special events to the extent that such gifts are made available

and/or shared with all employees in a department/office. Gifts made available for the purpose of

customary performance, merit awards or honorariums, consistent with municipal practices. Nor

shall it extend to reasonable gifts made to employees to recognize their service at time of retirement

or separation.

e. Political contributions received in compliance with law.

In determining whether a violation of this section has occurred, the following may be taken into 

consideration: the monetary or pecuniary value of the Thing of Value received; the act and/or item that 

constitutes the Thing of Value; any special economic value the Thing of Value received may have to the 

recipient; and the circumstance of which the Thing of Value was receive. 

For the purpose of this section, “Thing of Value” shall mean any gift, favor, service, loan, event, promise, 

or other thing of value.  

SECTION 7: INCOMPATIBLE EMPLOYMENT 

No Town official shall engage in or accept private employment or render or sell services or goods for 

private interests when such employment or services is incompatible with the proper discharge of his/her 

official duties.  

48

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

P a g e  4 | 7 

SECTION 8: CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

All Town officials must be fair and impartial in carrying out their duties and responsibilities. All Town 

officials must ensure that their official actions are not intended to create actual or the potential for personal 

or financial gain, either directly or indirectly, for themselves, family members, personal friends, or other 

related parties. Any actual or potential conflicts between personal interests and Town business must be fully 

disclosed in a timely manner. If it is determined that a conflict of interest does exist, the Town official shall 

recuse themselves from officially participating in any discussion or decision-making action on the issue. 

For the purpose of this section, the Table of Consanguinity in Appendix A outlines the degrees of 

relationships in conflict with each other.  

SECTION 9: POLTICAL ACTIVITIES 

No Town official shall participate in any political activity that would be in conflict or incompatible with 

the performance of their official functions and duties for the Town. No Town official may use their official 

authority or position for the purposes of influencing, interfering with, or affecting the results of any election, 

nor shall they solicit or accept funds or contributions during the workday from other Town officials for 

political purposes. Nothing herein shall prohibit any Town official from participating in the political process 

in their capacity as a private citizen or as candidates for elected office.  

SECTION 10: USE OF TOWN PROPERTY 

No Town official shall use or authorize others to use Town-owned property, including but not limited to, 

motor vehicles, equipment, and buildings for any private purposes. Nothing herein shall prohibit the use of 

Town-owned property for the following: 

a. The purpose of Town business.

b. For purposes and on terms generally available to other persons.

c. In accordance with a contract of employment with the Town in which the use of such property is

part of the compensation or a term of employment.

SECTION 11: SOCIAL MEDIA POLICY 

Town officials are responsible for their conduct on social media platforms and, in matters of the Town, 

shall refrain from defamatory, offensive, libelous or slanderous conduct that adversely affects any Town 

officials job performance or duties, suppliers, vendors, or contractors who work on behalf of the Town or 

conduct legitimate business for the Town; and shall not violate any section of this code of ethics, including 

but not limited to, section 5.  

Town officials should have the utmost regard in the professional representation of the Town and its 

functions and shall conduct themselves in a manner that promotes civility, rectitude, competence, and 

respectability whether on any form of social media or other media exchanges, including but not limited to, 

emails, direct mail, flyers, websites, newspapers, social platforms, internet communities, or other types of 

publications. No Town official shall engage in any media forum exchanges while in the capacity of his/her 

49

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

P a g e  5 | 7 

official duties. Nothing herein shall prohibit any Town Official from engaging in any media forum in their 

capacity as a private citizen.  

SECTION 12: VIOLATIONS OF CODE OF ETHICS 

Town officials have an affirmative obligation to report all suspected violations of this code of ethics. 

Reporting violations shall follow the Town’s whistleblower and protection reporting policy.  

Violations of this code of ethics, including failure to report violations of others, may result in disciplinary 

action, up to and including removal of appointment or termination of employment, in accordance with the 

disciplinary procedures outlined in the personnel policy.  

SECTION 13: STATUTORY STANDARDS 

There are certain provisions of the general statutes of the State of Maine which, while not set forth herein, 

should be considered an integral part of this Code of Ethics. Accordingly, the provisions of the following 

sections of general statutes of the State of Maine, as may be amended, are hereby incorporated in this Code 

of Ethics by reference to the extent applicable.   

• 17 M.R.S.A § 3104, Conflicts of interest; purchase by the State.

• 17 M.R.S.A § 456, Tampering with publics records or information.

• 17 M.R.S.A § 602, Bribery in official and political matters.

• 17 M.R.S.A § 603, Improper influence.

• 17 M.R.S.A § 604, Improper compensation for past action.

• 17 M.R.S.A § 605, Improper gifts to public servants.

• 17 M.R.S.A § 606, Improper compensation of services.

• 17 M.R.S.A § 607, Purchase of public office.

• 17 M.R.S.A § 608, Official oppression.

• 17 M.R.S.A § 609, Misuse of information.

• 17 M.R.S.A § 903, Misuse of entrusted property.

• 17 M.R.S.A § 504, Persons ineligible to serve.

• 17 M.R.S.A § 2605, Conflicts of interest.

• 17 M.R.S.A § 5122, Interests of public officials, trustees, or employees.

SECTION 14: SEPARABILITY 

If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, or phrase, of this Code of Ethics is for any reason held to be 

invalid or unconstitutional, such validity or unconstitutionality shall not affect the validity or 

constitutionality of the remaining portions of this code of ethics. 

50

DRAFT



P a g e  6 | 7 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 

SECTION 15: AMENDMENT 

This Code of Ethics may be amended or revised by a majority vote of the Town of Lyman Select Board. 

SECTION 16: DEFINITIONS 

Appointed Official: Anyone appointed to a board or committee to perform duties in the capacity of that 

board or committee.  

Employee: An individual working for the Town on a permanent or temporary basis drawing wage or a 

stipend from the Town.  

Financial Interest: A direct or indirect interest having monetary or pecuniary value, including, but not 

limited to, the ownership of shares of stock.  

Immediate Family: Spouse, children, parents, siblings, including step, half, and in-law relations, a 

domestic partner of a Town official, or persons sharing the same household and intermingling financial 

assets with a Town official.  

Special Interest: Any interest which will allow some form of personal gain, usually pecuniary in nature. 

Town Official: Any elected, appointed, volunteer, or employee of the Town that in their capacity serve a 

role in the functions or business operations of the municipality or provide any such services related to 

municipal affairs. 

Volunteer: Anyone conducting specific business and/or duties on behalf of the Town as delegated by the 

Town Manager or Select Board either on a temporary or permanent basis and does not receive wage or 

stipend from the Town.  

Adopted:   August 21, 2023

Amended: 

______________________________________Ralph “Rusty” Blackington - Chair 

______________________________________Thomas Hatch – Vice Chair 

______________________________________Jessica Picard 

______________________________________Amber Swett 

______________________________________Victoria Gavel 

A Majority of the Board of Selectpersons 

Lyman, Maine 

51

DRAFT

mnikel
Stamp



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

P a g e  7 | 7 

APENDIX A 

TABLE OF CONSANGUINITY 

Showing degrees of relationships 

4 

Great Great 

Grandparents 

3 

Great  

Grandparents 

5 

Great Grand 

Uncles & Aunts 

2 

Grandparents 
4 

Grand 

Uncles & Aunts 

6 

First Cousins 

Twice Removed 

1 

Parents 
3 

Uncles & 

Aunts 

5 

First Cousins 

Once Removed 

7 

Second Cousins 

Once Removed 

Person 2 

Brothers & 

Sisters 

4 

First Cousins 
6 

Second Cousins 

8 

Third Cousins 

1 

Child 
3 

Nephews & 

Nieces 

5 

First Cousins 

Once Removed 

7 

Second Cousins 

Once Removed 

9 

Third Cousins 

Once Removed 

2 

Grandchildren 
4 

Grand 

Nephews 

& Nieces 

6 

First Cousins 

Twice Removed 

8 

Second Cousins 

Twice Removed 

10 

Third Cousins 

Twice Removed 

3 

Great 

Grandchildren 

5 

Great Grand 

Nephews & 

Nieces 

7 

First Cousins 

Thrice 

Removed 

9 

Second Cousins 

Thrice 

Removed 

11 

Third Cousins 

Thrice 

Removed 

52

DRAFT

mnikel
Pencil

mnikel
Pencil

mnikel
Pencil

mnikel
Pencil

mnikel
Pencil

mnikel
Pencil

mnikel
Pencil

mnikel
Pencil

mnikel
Pencil

mnikel
Pencil

mnikel
Pencil



Appendix K

53

DRAFT



MMA Legal Services Information Packets

This packet is intended for general informational purposes only. It is not meant, nor 
should it be relied upon, as legal advice in any particular situation. Links to documents 
herein are provided as examples for informational purposes only and have not been 
reviewed by MMA Legal Services. Do not use any sample unless it has been reviewed by 
your legal counsel. The information herein is not a substitute for consultation with legal 
counsel and legal review or other specific guidance on the subject. The statutes and 
other information herein are only current as of the date of publication.

54

DRAFT



55

DRAFT



56

DRAFT



57

DRAFT



58

DRAFT



59

DRAFT



60

DRAFT



61

DRAFT



62

DRAFT



63

DRAFT



64

DRAFT



65

DRAFT



66

DRAFT



67

DRAFT



68

DRAFT



69

DRAFT



70

DRAFT



71

DRAFT



Appendix L 

Acknowledgement and Receipt of Committee Handbook 

By signing below, I hereby acknowledge receipt of this handbook and understand it is my 
responsibility to read and abide by the procedures and policies herein. 

________________________________________________________________________________ 
Signature of Committee Member/ Volunteer 

_______________________________________________________________________________ 
Printed Name of Committee Member/ Volunteer 

_______________________________________________________________________________ 
Date 

72

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 
Select Board Regular Meeting Minutes 

Monday January 6th, 2025 – Lyman Town Hall 

Page 1 of 4 

These are summary minutes in nature only and a full video recording of the proceeding is available to view on our 
YouTube channel at https://www.youtube.com/@LymanTownHall/streams or visit our website: 

https://lyman-me.gov/committees/board-of-selectmen/agenda-and-minutes/ 

Selectboard members present: Jessica Picard, Victoria Gavel, Amber Swett, Joseph Wagner, David Alves (Via 
Zoom) 
Selectboard members absent: none 

ITEM #1 SPECIAL OFFERS/ PRESENTATIONS 

ITEM #2 HEARING OF DELEGATIONS / PUBLIC INPUT 
a. Public Input – Public in attendance will have up to 5 minutes to address the Board.

Please use the podium to address the board and please be respectful of others
None

b. Mail    •York County Sheriff Report    - Reviewed in packet.

ITEM #3 UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
a. Franchise Agreement, Updates if any

No updates
b. Discussion – ADA ramps for Bunganut Park

Discussion on updates regarding the Bunganut Committee’s progress on the ADA ramps for
Bunganut Park. The Committee has expressed an interest in having the ramps installed as temporary
ramps with the Parks and Recreation committee having the responsibility for ensuring seasonal
removal and installation each year. Concerns regarding temporary installation include securing
proper location for the ramps to be stored safely; and ensuring the committee takes consistent
action to remove and replace the ramps each year. The water in the pond is lowered each year and
there is activity at the Pond in the winter for ice fishing and other recreation. Having the ramps
installed permanently will also mitigate further soil erosion concerns. The board agrees it would be
good to start the planning board process now for approval on permanent ramps, so all permitting
requirements and planning are ready for installation in early Spring. Permitting fees will come out of
the grant money provided for the ramps. CEO advised that temporary ramps require a PBR, NRPA,
and CEO permit; Permeant ramps require a PBR, NRPA, and Planning Board approval. Recent DEP
PBR for the bridge was approved within about 9 days of sending it in. The board agrees to have the
ramps installed permanently and the Bunganut committee will initiate the process.

ITEM #4 DEPARTMENT AND COMMITTEE REPORTS 
a. Fire Chief – All Hands Newsletter

Victoria Gavel – States GMFR will distribute buckets of sand and salt for Lyman residents. Next fire
commission meeting they will be discussing budgets.

b. Treasurer - Expense Report – Reviewed in Agenda Packet

ITEM #5 NEW BUSINESS 
a. Review/ Approve –Quote $1,150 for removal of trees in Bunganut Park

While the forester marked out debris and invasive species in the Pines area at Bunganut, they also
identified two large trees as hazardous and marked them for removal. KCB landscaping provided a

DRAFT
ITEM #6: (a.) Minutes

https://www.youtube.com/@LymanTownHall/streams
https://lyman-me.gov/committees/board-of-selectmen/agenda-and-minutes/


Town of Lyman 
Select Board Regular Meeting Minutes 

Monday January 6th, 2025 – Lyman Town Hall 

Page 2 of 4 

quote for removal. Large limbs will be hauled off or put to the side, stumps can be ground down, 
and smaller limbs will be chipped on site and stored in a pile for later use. This item can come out of 
the funding allocated for storm damage related tree removal or out of the Bunganut Project Reserve 
Account.  
Amber Swett – Motions to approve the $1,150 for removal of trees in Bunganut park by KCB 
Landscaping and the funds to come out of the Bunganut park reserve account 
Victoria Gavel – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 5-0-0 

b. Review/ Approve Transfer Station Policy
Policy includes specific details identifying placement of dump stickers, waste disposal guidelines, etc.
Discussion about updating the stickers to be more inclusive of other permissions like Resident use at
Bunganut Park; adding instructions on the backside for placement of stickers; providing a verbal or
written note to residents about sticker guidelines upon issuing. Discussion making grammatical
changes on “Short Term Rentals” section; changing renter’s to renters and defraying to
deteriorating.
Victoria Gavel – Motions to accept as written with grammatical changes added.
Joseph Wagner – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 5-0-0

c. Discussion – Tenant at Will on Davis Road.
Tenants were contacted regarding the Towns logging efforts and asked to temporarily move their
items off the property for the duration of the logging. Tenants agreed with the exception that they
leave the large granite slabs. They noted that brush that was recently dropped off by the Town was
in the way of gravel material they have stored there. Discussion regarding the continuance of the
tenancy at will. Also, The materials stored there, such as the asphalt, the Town could crush and use
for other projects.  While the Town is still conducting a land study, the board may decide to utilize
this property in other ways or sell it. Terminating the tenancy at will requires 30 days’ notice. The
board is agreeable in giving an extension if necessary to remove the large granite slabs provided the
tenant makes a request in writing and removes the materials within a stipulated timeframe
provided by the Town.
David Alves – Motions to terminate the Tenancy at Will and request Town Council to provide
formal wording on the termination letter.
Joseph Wagner – Seconds the motion.
Discussion clarifying this motion is regarding the property located on Davis Road.
Motion passes: 5-0-0

d. Review/ Approve Fee Schedule for Field Use and Pines Rentals.
David Alves – Proposes raising the fees to what the Town needs to cover expenses and bringing
operations of the Park to net zero. If the fees do not amount to net zero, then the remainder would
be charged to YMCA for use of the park for their camp programs. The board can breakdown the
expenses associated with the fees and determine an accurate amount that would cover expenses.
Discussion regarding starting at a jumping off point and considering increasing fees each year if
necessary. Field use request forms indicate the fields were requested for a total of 900 hours last
season. There’s some question as to whether some leagues put in accurate requests. Charging by
hour would ensure more detailed and accurate requests. Amber Swett suggests the board consider
starting the MyRec program. It would help with scheduling the field use and reservations can be
paid for online. Lindsay Gagne suggests purchasing master locks that are accessible via Bluetooth or
a temporary code. This would grant access, while also setting limitations to access, and providing
specific details as to who is accessing the locks and whether or not they’ve been left open or were
properly closed. Currently the Town uses a combination code that is shared among multiple people.
Discussion regarding the Pines rentals; there is limited data to help determine what fee amount
would be appropriate. Lindsay Gagne recommends doing a base fee instead of a tiered per group

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 
Select Board Regular Meeting Minutes 

Monday January 6th, 2025 – Lyman Town Hall 

Page 3 of 4 

size fee until more data can be collected. There was discussion about splitting the Pines into 
separate groups as was recommended by Bunganut Committee, however it’s also pointed out that 
due to limited parking in that area, one group would have to park and walk through another groups 
party which would cause issues with trying to split the area.  
Victoria Gavel – Motions the proposed fee schedule on the field use to be $25 an hour and the 
Pines rentals to be $300 a day for this season upcoming summer of 2025 
Joseph Wagner – Seconds the motion.  
Dave Alves – States the burden will be placed on the taxpayers to make up the difference and he 
is in favor of a net zero plan.  
Motion passes: 4-1-0 (Jessica Picard, Victoria Gavel, Amber Swett, Joseph Wagner in favor; David 
Alves opposed)  

e. Discussion – Schedule Budget Workshops
Budget workshops are a scheduled for
January 16th, 2025 at 6:00pm located at the Town Hall
January 30th, 2025 at 6:00pm located at the Town Hall.

ITEM #6 MINUTES 
a. Review / Approve meeting minutes 12/16/2024

Victoria Gavel – Motions to approve. Amber Swett seconds. Motion passes: 5-0-0

ITEM #7 SIGN WARRANTS 
a. Payroll Warrant #28 in the amount of $30,528.77

David Alves – Motions to approve. Victoria Gavel seconds. Motion passes: 5-0-0
b. Payroll Warrant #30 in the amount of $30,336.69

Amber Swett – Motions to approve. David Alves seconds. Motion passes: 5-0-0
c. Accounts Payable Warrant #29 (FY2025) in the amount of $714,182.95

Victoria Gavel – Motions to approve. David Alves seconds. Motion passes: 5-0-0
Discussion from Amber she had a few questions about the GWI phone line listed at Kennebunk pond
and an emersion heater that she will follow up with the Treasurer.

EXECUTIVE SESSION 
None 

ADJOURN 

Amber Swett – Motions to adjourn. Victoria Gavel seconds. Motion passes: 5-0-0 DRAFT



Town of Lyman 
Select Board Regular Meeting Minutes 

Monday January 6th, 2025 – Lyman Town Hall 

Page 4 of 4 

__________________________________________ 
Jessica Picard 

__________________________________________ 
David Alves 

_____________________________________________ 

Amber Swett 

_____________________________________________ 

Joseph Wagner 

_____________________________________________ 

Victoria Gavel

I, Lindsay Gagne, Town Manager of the Town of Lyman, Maine, do hereby certify that the foregoing document consisting of 4 pages 
are the original minutes of the Select Board Meeting dated January 6th, 2025 

_____________________________________ 

Lindsay Gagne

DRAFT



ITEM #7: (a.) Payroll Warrant





ITEM #7: (b.) AP Warrant


















	Lyman Age-Friendly Survey Report 1-9-25.pdf
	Lifelong Communities Template
	Slide 1: Age-Friendly Lyman – Community Survey, 2024
	Slide 2: 8 Elements of Lifelong Communities
	Slide 3: Lyman Survey Data
	Slide 4: Are you a year-round resident of Lyman? (n=271)
	Slide 5: Age of Respondents (n=263)
	Slide 6: How long have you lived in Lyman? (n=273)
	Slide 7: How would you rate Lyman as a place for people to live as they enter their senior years? (n=266)
	Slide 8: Thinking about your future years, are you likely to move to a different community, move to a different residence in Lyman, or stay in your current residence and never move? (n=256)
	Slide 9: If you were to consider moving out of your current residence, how much of a factor would the following be in your decision to move? 
	Slide 10: How important is it for you to be able to live independently in your home as you age? (n=237)
	Slide 11: As you grow older, would you consider sharing your home?
	Slide 12: How would you rate Lyman for the availability of each of the following? (n=229)
	Slide 13: How would you rate Lyman for each of the following? (n=228)
	Slide 14: Transportation: How do you usually get around Lyman for activities including (but not limited to) shopping, errands, medical appointments, socializing? (n=226)
	Slide 15: Health and Wellness: How would you rate Lyman for access and affordability to each of the following? (n=212)
	Slide 16: How often do you feel the following? (n=205)
	Slide 17: If you were in trouble, how would you get help at any time of the day or night? (n=205)
	Slide 18: Do you use any of the following sources for continuing education, self-improvement or workshops? (n=203)
	Slide 19: How comfortable are you using a computer, tablet or mobile device? (n=203)
	Slide 20: How would you rate Lyman for having each of the following? (n=195)
	Slide 21: What type(s) of organized social / community activities would you be most likely to engage in? (n=187)
	Slide 22: What type(s) of education sessions would you be most likely to engage in? (n=165)
	Slide 23: What format of educational sessions would you be most likely to engage in?(n=185)
	Slide 24: What might prevent you from joining in on organized educational, social / community activities? (n=175)
	Slide 25: Volunteering and Civic Engagement How interested would you be in volunteering on a town committee, assuming there is something that is of particular interest to you? (n=186)
	Slide 26: Community Information: Would you turn to the following resources if you, a family member or friend needed information about services for older adults such as caregiving services, home delivered meals, home repair, medical transport or social act
	Slide 27: Gender of Respondents (n=180)
	Slide 28: Community Member Health (Self Rating) (N=181)
	Slide 29: A family caregiver is someone who provides care for an adult loved one who is ill, frail, elderly or has a physical, mental or emotional disability. This care may include helping with meals, household chores, shopping, transportation, personal h
	Slide 30: How likely is it that you will provide unpaid care to an adult loved one in the future? (n=182)
	Slide 31: SUMMARY:
	Slide 32: NEXT STEPS:


	TOL Committee Handbook DRAFT.pdf
	Blank Page
	Blank Page




